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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Global Mastermind Capital Limited (the “Company”), | presented
to you the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2018.

During the year, the Group recorded a loss attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately HK$141,223,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2018, as compared to the audited
profit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$26,468,000 for the year ended 31 December 2017. The
turnaround of the Group’s performance is primarily attributable
to the change from gain arising in change in fair value of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2017 of approximately HK$78,357,000 to loss
arising in change in fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2018
of approximately HK$122,160,000, which partly offset by the
absence of impairment loss recognised in respect of available-
for-sale financial assets reclassified from equity to profit or loss of
approximately HK$28,133,000 as recognised for the year ended
31 December 2017.

PROSPECTS

Due to the intensified trade dispute between China — United
States and rising interest rate, 2018 had been a very challenging
year for worldwide investors, as nearly every major asset
declined.

With China’s economy expanded slower than expected, the
Chinese government had boosted liquidity and has set for more
policy as trade war has started to slow the economy. Also, the
Federal Reserve is expected to slowing rate hike in 2019.
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With the slowing rate hike and more liquidity, the market is
expected to turn around in 2019. However, due to macro
uncertainties, the company will stay focus on finding and
purchase strong companies when they are trading at attractive
prices. We believe our portfolio contains high-quality companies
that are attractively priced for long-term appreciation, and
will continue to focus on the three segments: compounders,
undervalued, and special situations.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my deepest
gratitude and appreciation to business partners, external
professionals, fellow directors, employees and our shareholders.

Mung Kin Keung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MIEJELTHHH & *ﬁ'

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group recorded
a loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$141.2 million, compared to a profit attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately HK$26.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2017. The turnaround was mainly
attributable to the change from gain arising in change in fair value
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2017 of approximately HK$78.4 million
to loss arising in change in fair value of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss of approximately HK$122.2 million
for the year ended 31 December 2018 which partly offset by the
absence of impairment loss recognised in respect of available-
for-sale financial assets reclassified from equity to profit or loss of
approximately HK$28.1 million as recognised for the year ended
31 December 2017. The loss arising in change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of for the year
ended 31 December 2018 was mainly driven by the unrealized
losses on the Hong Kong listed securities on hand as a result of
the stock market recession since the middle of 2018.

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND
RESTRICTIONS

Set out below are the investment objectives, policies and
restrictions of the Company:

Our investments will normally be made in listed and unlisted
companies.

i.  The Group had made investments with a short to long term
perspective with the objective of making capital gain as
well as income from dividend or interests. Over the years,
the Group invested in listed and unlisted securities, bonds,
direct investments, projects, properties and structured
products. Investments are also made in special or recovery
situations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND
RESTRICTIONS (CONTINUED)

There is no restriction on the proportion of the Company’s
assets which may be invested in any specific sector or
company save for the restriction that the Company will not
make an investment in any company which represents more
than 20% of the consolidated net assets of the Company at
the time such investment is made.

The Company will not either on its own or in conjunction
with any connected person take legal, or effective,
management control of underlying investments and that in
any event the investment company will not own or control
more than 30% (or such other percentage as may from time
to time be specified in the Takeovers Code as being the level
for triggering @ mandatory general offer) of the voting rights
in any one company or body.

The Directors do not intend to seek bank borrowings until
substantially all the Company’s funds have been invested
and that the Company borrows, the Directors do not intend
to borrow amounts representing in aggregate more than
the consolidated net assets of the Company at the time the
borrowing is made.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWmR DTN

INVESTMENT REVIEW

As at 31 December 2018, the major investments of the Group
were approximately HK$304,348,000 of a portfolio of listed
financial instruments and approximately HK$57,422,000 of direct
investment in unlisted financial instruments. The investment
portfolio of the Group mainly comprises equity securities mainly in
Hong Kong, Canada and the United States of America.

Dividend from listed equity investments during the year ended
31 December 2018 was approximately HK$3,380,000. Interest
income from debt securities during the year ended 31 December
2018 was approximately HK$79,000.

The details of all investments with a value greater than 5% of
the Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest investments
at 31 December 2018 are respectively set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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INVESTMENT REVIEW (CONTINUED)

The (loss)/gain arising in change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
for all investments with a value greater than 5% of
the Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest

investment of the Companies as follows

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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(Loss)/gain
arising in change
in fair value of
financial

assets at fair
value through
profit or loss

UAFESIRZ
MBEERNFE
Name of investments BEEEZ
REER (E518) Was
Notes HK’000
Liks3 TET
Affluent Partners Holdings Limited Affluent Partners Holdings Limited
BEERARAR" 1 12,704
Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited ~ 1b3Z /KIS BB R A &) 2 (4,477)
Brockman Mining Limited Brockman Mining Limited
e BREEARAR" 3 18,096
China Information Technology FEEBRFEREGRAA
Development Limited 4 (7,979)
Frontier Services Group Limited Frontier Services Group Limited
EERGEEFTR A" 5 (3,874)
Greenland Hong Kong Holdings Limited 4k i & 7 1% A% A R 2 &) 6 158
Huayi Tencent Entertainment EHEMIREBR AT
Company Limited 7 (29,390)
Kingston Financial Group Limited eNESREEERAT 8 (56,400)
Kuang-chi Technologies Co., Ltd. HEREAMT AR D B R A A 9 (2,634)
Click Ventures Segregated Click Ventures Segregated
Portfolio Company Portfolio Company
— Fund Series 3T SP —Fund Series 3T SP 10 9,593

©ERES)

BYAXBREERLHE | 2018F

9



10

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWmR DTN

INVESTMENT REVIEW (CONTINUED)

The (loss)/gain arising in change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss for all investments with a value greater than
5% of the Group’s gross assets and at least 10
largest investment of the Companies as follows
(Continued)

Notes:

1 As disclosed in its 2018 interim report of Affluent Partners Holdings
Ltd. (“Affluent Partners”), with gradual expansion in real estate
investment business, Affluent Partners’ targets are the United Kingdom
and the countries along “Eurasia”. Affluent Partners anticipates
such investments and its strategic investment and financial services
business will diversify its income streams, and generate additional
investment returns on its available funds from time to time. Affluent
Partners expects that the real estate investment business will be
its growth driver and will actively make continuous efforts to find
appropriate investment projects in the future. Affluent Partners will
continue enhancing the development of the mature pearls and
jewellery business, actively participating in various important jewellery
& gem fairs around the world and optimising operation efficiency and
productivity in a bid to stay competitive. With the memorandum of
understanding dated 4 October 2018 relating to the formation of a
joint venture for the acquisition and development properties across the
United Kingdom especially in the student housing, serviced apartments
and built to rent sectors, the collaboration agreement dated
26 October 2018 relating to setting up one or more REITs, and the
development of its existing strategic investment and financial services
business, Affluent Partners will focus its investments and operations
more in the real estate and investment and asset management sectors
especially in Europe and Asia.

2 According to latest final results announcement of Beijing Enterprises
Water Group Limited (“BJ Ent Water”). In 2019, BJ Ent Water will
reinforce its presence and continue to expand and strengthen its two
core businesses, namely urban water services and water environment
comprehensive renovation, with a view to shifting from high-speed
development to high quality growth, in adherence to the development
strategy of setting up asset management and operational management
platforms and by way of comprehensive innovation. In achieving its
yearly business goals and pursuing a momentous and leapfrogging
growth, BJ Ent Water will be dedicated to promote the ecological value
of the entire industry and the creation of a community of shared future
for mankind across the world.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INVESTMENT REVIEW (CONTINUED)

The (loss)/gain arising in change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss for all investments with a value greater than
5% of the Group’s gross assets and at least 10
largest investment of the Companies as follows
(Continued)

Notes: (Continueq)

3 According to latest interim results announcement of Brockman Mining
Ltd. (“Brockman Mining”), Brockman Mining entered into a Farm-in
Joint Venture Agreement (the “FJV Agreement”) with Polaris Metals
Pty Ltd. (“Polaris”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Mineral Resources
Limited (“MRL”), on 26 July 2018 for the development of its flagship
Marillana Iron Ore Project located in Pilbara region of Western Australia.
Under the terms of the FJV Agreement, Polaris will earn a 50% interest
in the Marillana Iron Ore Project and MRL will be responsible for
development of the mine, construction and operation of the processing
plant for an estimated minimum production rate of 20 million tonnes
per annum of high quality Marillana product. The funding for the
mine development, which is estimated to be a maximum of A$300
million, will be shared by the joint venture. Under the terms of the FJV
Agreement, MRL will use its best endeavours to secure debt funding
for Brockman Mining’s A$150 million contribution. The capital cost for
the process plant construction will be borne entirely by MRL, in return
for a service fee to be paid by the joint venture based on production
volumes. MRL has also committed to the construction and operation of
rail and port infrastructure, which consists of a 320km long light railway
connecting Marillana to a port at South West Creek in the Port Hedland
inner harbour. It is expected that construction of this railway and port
will commence before the end of 2019 and be operational by the end
of 2021. The processing plant is scheduled to commence operations
concurrently with the railway. The establishment of the joint venture will
unlock the value of the Marillana Iron Ore Project and may assist in the
future development of its group’s other iron ore assets in the Pilbara
Region. Brockman Mining is looking forward to working with MRL, an
established Australian mining services and processing company. The
proven capability of MRL in constructing and operating process plants
in the Pilbara region will de-risk the development of the Marillana Iron
Ore Project.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWmE DM

INVESTMENT REVIEW (CONTINUED)

The (loss)/gain arising in change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss for all investments with a value greater than

5% of the Group’s gross assets and at least 10

largest investment of the Companies as follows

(Continued)

Notes: (Continueq)

According to the latest annual report of China Information Technology
Development Limited (“China Info Tech”), China Info Tech has made
steady progress in refining its business model in 2018 (v) putting more
emphasis on our main business in Macro and the future development
of Data Cube. China Info Tech will continue to endeavor to intensify its
innovation facilitation and enhance new market expansion with more
centralized resources. China Info Tech shall continue to team up Macro
and DataCube so as to synergize its’ IT capabilities and to jump on the
bandwagon of Smart Cities among the businesses.

China Info Tech shall further its development as a Marketing Al
integrated solution provider. They provide comprehensive services
including big data Al platform where data is gathered and analyzed
and with the help of Al book which is an end to end machine learning
platform. They provide online merge office (‘OMO”) advertisement
management platform and OMO SSP supplier platform services. They
then provide comprehensive advertising services with advertising
means like shopping malls, public transportation, offices and even car
parks.

In the year to come, China Info Tech shall adhere to their business
strategy to develop their main business in Macro and DataCube. They
dedicate to pay close attention to the development in the industry as
well as the macro-economy and keep abreast of the knowledge and
technology.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INVESTMENT REVIEW (CONTINUED)

The (loss)/gain arising in change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss for all investments with a value greater than

5% of the Group’s gross assets and at least 10

largest investment of the Companies as follows

(Continued)

Notes: (Continueq)

According the annual results announcement of Frontier Services
Group Ltd. (“Frontier Services”) for the year ended 31 December
2018, 2018 was a fruitful year for Frontier Services. Frontier Services
has built up a solid foundation for growth in businesses in 2019 and
onwards by opening up of new presences and markets along the Belt
and Road regions. During the second half of 2018, Frontier Services
had put additional effort in exploring opportunities on infrastructure
business. It is expected that Frontier Services will take part in one or
two infrastructure projects in 2019 in order to diversify its business
segments. In 2019, Frontier Services plans to provide infrastructure
project solutions encompassing planning and management, financing,
construction and logistics, helping its customers to manage the entire
project value chain focusing on transportation corridors, energy and
logistics networks as well as social housing projects in Africa and South
East Asia, echoing China’s Belt and Road initiative. Frontier Services
also intends to take part in these projects through equity investment.
Infrastructure business segment will be established to support Frontier
Services’ capabilities to take advantage of these large projects
and maximise synergies Frontier Services has specifically identified
certain countries along the Belt and Road, namely Laos, Myanmar,
Cambodia and the Democratic of Republic of Congo for its business
development. On business segments, security, logistic and insurance
are still the key drivers for growth. Frontier Services would like to take
advantage of those infrastructure projects in order to stimulate the
growth in revenue and profitability of these three business streams.
Although the global economy remains highly volatile, Frontier Services
remains positive towards 2019 because a strong and solid foundation
has been formed. At the same time, Frontier Services will continuously
implement various cost reduction measures to enhance its overall
operational efficiency. Frontier Services has the belief that its focus
on the Belt and Road Initiative and its uniqueness in terms business
modeling and shareholding structure would still be its competitive
strength to support its long-term strategic growth.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWmR DTN

INVESTMENT REVIEW (CONTINUED)

The (loss)/gain arising in change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss for all investments with a value greater than

5% of the Group’s gross assets and at least 10

largest investment of the Companies as follows

(Continued)

Notes: (Continueq)

Greenland Hong Kong Holding Limited (stock code: 00337) issued
a maximum principal amount of USD200,000,000 1.5 year 9.875%
coupon interest bonds international bond on 18 December 2018 and
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 05485) with the coupon
rate 9.875%, interest payable semi-annually and matured on 16 June
2020.

According to annual results announcement of Huayi Tencent
Entertainment Company Ltd. (“Huayi Tencent”) for the year ended
31 December 2018, the future of Chinese film industry looks bright as
the Chinese are now more willing to spend on films and entertainment.
According to a public research on global entertainment and media
outlook for 2018 to 2022, it is expected that Mainland China will
continue its astonishing pace of cinema construction between 2018
and 2022, and by 2022 the number of cinema screens in Mainland
China will be nearly double in number of that the United States currently
has. As the Korean films and television dramas are receiving a lot of
attention and enjoying a broad and stable base of audience, Huayi
Tencent is confident of the performance of HB Entertainment Co., Ltd.,
a 31% owned associate of Huayi Tencent, and Huayi-Warner Contents
Fund, a limited partnership established by Huayi Tencent, Warner Bros.
Korea Inc. et la for investing in film projects, in the long run. Apart from
the collaboration with HB Entertainment Co., Ltd. and Warner Bros
Korea Inc., Huayi Tencent is also actively working along with Korean
producers and looking for further opportunities and advancements
so as to increase its revenue. As the Chinese film and entertainment
industry is approaching the stage of a more diversified development,
Huayi Tencent is determined to, through the knowledge and backing
of its controlling shareholders Huayi Brothers International Limited
and Tencent Holdings Limited, continue its global development and
invest in quality movie projects, as well as to look for opportunities
of collaboration with well-established and internationally-renowned
film studios. In the future, Huayi Tencent will also keep a close eye on
investment opportunities in the pan-entertainment industry (such as the
gaming, eSports and music), with a view to reinforcing its deployment
in the cultural and entertainment industry. The healthcare and wellness
business is expected to generate stable revenue for Huayi Tencent in
the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INVESTMENT REVIEW (CONTINUED)

The (loss)/gain arising in change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss for all investments with a value greater than
5% of the Group’s gross assets and at least 10
largest investment of the Companies as follows
(Continued)

Notes: (Continueq)

10

As disclosed in its 2018 interim report of Kingston Financial Group
Ltd., the investment sentiment is expected to recover upon the positive
progress of the development of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area (“GBA”), which will offer ample opportunities for
financial services industry. The Stock and Bond Connect schemes
between the Mainland China and Hong Kong continues to fuel the
growth by means of increasing number of international and Mainland
Chinese investors trading securities and bonds across different
markets. The expansion of the daily quota of Stock Connect and
the inclusion of A shares in the MSCI indexes may also enhance
the attractiveness of the Mainland and Hong Kong stock markets.
Moreover, the anticipated lowering of required reserve ratios by the
People’s Bank of China would stimulate positive market sentiment
and bring in positive impact to the financial markets. Looking forward,
Kingston Financial will adopt a responsive approach, to prudently
deploy and implement expansion plans that are in line with the market
situation in Hong Kong and the Mainland China. With its strong visibility
across the region, Kingston Financial is well-poised to grasp the
opportunities arising from the existing mature Hong Kong market, as
well as the emerging capital market in the GBA. With the opening of
the Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge, Kingston Financial expects the
Macau gaming and tourism market to maintain a positive development
prospect. Kingston Financial will continue to drive the revenue growth
of its hotel and gaming segments in the region.

As stated in the 2018 half-year report of Kuang-chi Technologies Co.,
Ltd., in the first half of 2018, global economic situation was still severe
and complex, China’s economic structure continued to optimize
and upgrade, and economy remained steady and healthy generally,
continuing the development trend of making progress with stability. The
company was developing and producing automobile chairs functional
accessories while vigorously promoting the transformation and
upgrade of leaning towards super materials strategy emerging industry.

Fund Series 3T SP operates by Click Ventures Segregated Portfolio
Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Fund Series 3T SP
is principally invested in start-ups at the seed to series A stage in Hong
Kong and internationally.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWmE DM

INVESTMENT REVIEW (CONTINUED)

The (loss)/gain arising in change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss for all investments with a value greater than
5% of the Group’s gross assets and at least 10
largest investment of the Companies as follows
(Continued)

The directors believe that the future performance of the Hong
Kong listed equities held by the Group is largely affected by
economic factors, investor sentiment, demand and supply
balance of an investee company’s shares and fundamentals
of an investee company, such as investee company’s news,
business fundamental and development, financial performance
and future prospects. Accordingly, the directors closely monitor
the above factors, particularly the fundamentals of each individual
investee company in the Group’s equity portfolio, and proactively
adjust the Group’s equity portfolio mix in order to improve its
performance.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$38,500,000 (as at
31 December 2017: approximately HK$7,017,000).

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had other financial liability
of approximately HK$9,899,000 (as at 31 December 2017:
approximately HK$9,862,000), obligation under finance lease
of Nil (as at 31 December 2017: approximately HK$192,000)
and loan from a director of Nil (as at 31 December 2017:
approximately HK$10,000,000).

The gearing ratio (borrowings/total equity) as at 31 December
2018 was 2.5% (as at 31 December 2017: 3.9%). Borrowings
included other financial liability, obligation under finance lease and
amount due from a director.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
(CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had net current assets of
approximately HK$388,008,000, as compared to approximately
HK$383,883,000 as at 31 December 2017.

As at 31 December 2018, the current ratio of the Group was
19.04 compared to 24.42 as at 31 December 2017.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s obligation under a
finance lease is secured by the lessor’s charge over the leased
asset with the carrying amount of Nil (as at 31 December 2017:
HK$547,000).

As at 31 December 2018, a portfolio of listed equity and debt
securities held under margin account with carrying amounts of
approximately HK$32,080,000 (as at 31 December 2017: nil)
have been pledged to secure margin loan from securities broker
in accruals and other payables.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

The Group had no material capital commitment and contingent
liabilities as at 31 December 2018 (as at 31 December 2017: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Most of the investments and the business transactions of the
Group are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The Board
believes the foreign exchange exposure is minimal.

SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2018, the Company had 700,333,925 shares
of HK$0.01 each in issue (as at 31 December 2017: 700,333,925
shares).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWmR DTN

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2018.

LOAN FROM A DIRECTOR

On 30 November 2016, Mr. Mung Kin Keung, a director and
shareholder of the Company, as a lender, and the Group, as
a borrower, entered into a loan agreement pursuant to which
Mr. Mung has agreed to grant a loan to the Group with the
amount of HK$10,000,000 (the “Loan”). The Loan is non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand. The Loan is constituted as
a connected transaction of the Company which fully exempted
from shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure
requirements under the Listing Rules. The Group repaid the Loan
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

The Loan is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group ensured that its employees are remunerated
according to the prevailing manpower market conditions
and individual performance, qualification, experience and the
remuneration policies are reviewed on a regular basis.

At 31 December 2018, there were 15 employees, including
2 executive Directors and 3 independent non-executive Directors
(the “INED(s)"). Remuneration policies are reviewed in accordance
with the market situation and the performance of individual
Directors from time to time. In addition to salaries, the Group
provides employee benefits such as medical insurance and
mandatory provident fund schemes. Moreover, discretionary
bonus and share options will be paid or granted to employees
based on the Group’s and individual performances.

The emoluments of the Directors were determined with reference
to their duties and responsibilities with the Company, the
Company’s performance, prevailing market conditions and the
market emoluments for directors of other listed companies and
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee.

Details of the emoluments of Director and employees of the
Group are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY
(CONTINUED)

The Group’s total staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) for
the year ended 31 December 2018 amounted to approximately
HK$11,974,000 (2017: HK$13,972,000).

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

BEEENWR DN
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TERBRRTEERE

Principal risks Description Mitigating actions
TEEAR Bt ERER
Business risk Business risk is the risk of rapid changes e Continuously monitor the market dynamics and adopt a
R R in investment market could impact the conservative approach on investment
Group’s performance. o HEENMSHERKERRTIIRET £
XBRRAKREMBRRECMAIRTE
AEBRR 2 ER -
Economic risk Economic risk is the risk of any downturn * Regularly review forward looking indicators to identify
ER R in economic conditions could impact the economic conditions.
Group’s performance. o THIEMAIEMIEE  BELERR-
EREASETRAIGEFERNSERR
Z BB
Liquidity risk Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group ¢ Regularly monitor liquidity and statement of financial
MENE 2Rk would not be able to meet its financial position.
obligations as they fall due. o THELREE S KUMBMRNE-
nEHEeRERATNEEREEIEMNIINE
BERS 2 @k e Maintain appropriate liquidity to cover commitments.
o BFBHMERDECEMNAE-
e Limit liquidity risk exposure by investing securities listed on
stock exchanges.
o FRRENBAFRXGM Iz ERRFRBE SRR
Price risk Price risk is the risk that changes in equity e Regularly monitor equity portfolio to address any portfolio
B%ER prices would affect the Group’s income issues promptly.

and the value of its holdings of equities. o
BHRERARFEREDETEFTEK
ARFEREER AR - .

TFHERRAES  MEBRMEAIREESRHE-
Spread price risk exposure by investing a number of

equities.

BERRESERESHERRER -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MIEJELTHHH & *ﬁ

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(CONTINUED)

Principal risks Description

TERAR Bt

Exchange risk Exchange risk is the risk that changes in
N [ B2 foreign exchange rates would affect

the Group’s income and the value of its
holdings of assets.
SNERR REXEH KT EAEERA N

BEEBECAR-
People risk People risk is the risk of loss the services of
ANE R any Directors, senior management and

other key personnel could have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s businesses.
AEBRRAENES RREBERAME
PABBBURHARERBELERXR

THRFEZRR-
Legal and Legal and regulatory risk is the risk that a
regulatory risk breach of laws and regulations could lead
FERETRER to litigation, investigations or disputes,

resulting in additional costs on civil and/
or criminal proceedings and reputational
damage being incurred.
FEREREERBRREILEE ARG
H - AESASD ﬁE%&/&ﬁ%
DRRLEXBELBIMAZ AR
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TERBRIEEERR (F)

Mitigating actions

RERE

¢ Closely monitor statement of financial position and cashflow
exchange risk exposures and consider appropriate use of
financial instruments, such as forward exchange contracts,
foreign currency options and forward rate agreements, to hedge
the exchange risk.

o BYEIEBBIK AR LIREREINERR N EZEEEFH
EEASNE S 4 MNE HIRE KR BAR R R S M T A4
B Jal Bz o

¢ Provide competitive reward and benefit packages to attract and
retain the employees the Group need.

o REABFNZRBNEN ARSI LREAREMT 2B

o

e Ensure that the staff of the Group has the right working
environment to enable them to do the best job and maximise
their satisfaction at work.

s BRAKBEEIHAERELERE EHEIRARHEHET
KEEIEREGEIIEMER

¢ Monitor changes and developments in the regulatory
environment and ensure that sufficient resources being made
available to implement for any compulsory changes.

o RAEERBEPRER URRE T ERIEL EMRH
125

e Seek legal or other specialist advice as appropriate.

o SRAEFEMEXER (WER) -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to acting in an environmentally
responsible manner in our business operations and promoting
green measures towards environmental protection to our
employees. Our Group adheres to the principle of recycling,
reducing and reusing. Encouraging paper recycling culture,
doubled-sided printing and copying, and encouraging
energy-saving culture by switching off idle lightings and
electrical appliance are implemented by the Group. In order
to enhance environmental sustainability, our Group will review
its environmental practices from time to time and will consider
implementing further eco-friendly measures and practices in the
Group’s business operation.

COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS

During the year, there was no incidence of non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group as far as the Board is aware.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEE,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

As the Group is engaged in investment in listed and unlisted
financial instruments, there are no major customers and suppliers
during the year.

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers, employees and other
stakeholders to meet the Group’s immediate and long-term
goals. Although there are no major customers and suppliers
during the year the Company creates a framework for motivating
staff and a formal communication channel in order to maintain
healthy relationships with its employees and other stakeholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWmR DTN

FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS

The Group’s net asset value is a key indicator of the
financial performance and it decreased to approximately
HK$388,325,000 as at 31 December 2018 (as at 31 December
2017: HK$519,218,000). During the year ended 31 December
2018, the Group suffered from a loss of approximately
HK$141,223,000, mainly because of the loss arising in change
in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
amounting to approximately HK$122,160,000.

The net asset value per share was HK$0.55, which was
calculated on the above net assets value and 700,333,925
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in issue as at 31 December
2018.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Mung Kin Keung, aged 58, was appointed as an executive
Director on 9 March 2007. He is also a director of various
subsidiaries of the Company. He holds a Conferment of Honorary
Doctoral Degree from Sinte Gleska University of California. In
November 2007, he was awarded the 9th World Outstanding
Chinese Award by the World Chinese Business Investment
Foundation. He has extensive experience in areas of business
management, strategic planning and development.

He was appointed as an executive director of the board of CWT
International Limited (“CWT”, stock code: 521), a company listed
on the Main Board of Stock Exchange, on 16 February 2009 and
re-designated as the vice-chairman and the chairman of CWT on
10 May 2010 and 24 October 2013 respectively. He has resigned
as an executive director and the co-chairman of CWT with effect
from 3 June 2015. On 20 February 2019, he was re-appointed as
an executive director and co-chairman of the board of CWT.

He was appointed as an executive director of Global Mastermind
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8063), a company listed on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange, on 19 June 2014.

He was appointed as the vice chairman of the board and an
executive director of Hong Kong International Construction
Investment Management Group Co., Limited (stock code: 687),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, on
1 February 2018 and resigned with effect from 3 August 2018.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEZEHN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Save as disclosed above, he did not hold any directorships in any
other listed public companies in the last three years and does not
hold any other position with the Company or other members of
the Group.

Mr. Mung Kin Keung is the father of Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan, an
executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company and
spouse of Ms. Dou Candice Jingyi. Ms. Dou Candice Jingyi was
President — Corporate Development of the Company and has
resigned on 28 February 2018.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Mung Kin Keung does not have any
relationship with any Directors, senior management or substantial
or controlling shareholder of the Company.

As at the 31 December 2018, Mr. Mung is interested in
159,135,802 shares, representing approximately 22.72% of
the issued share capital of the Company, which comprise
53,696,000 shares and 581,802 share options held by Mr. Mung
and 104,858,000 Shares held by China Tian Di Xing, a company
which is owned as to 99.99% by Mr. Mung.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Mung does not have any interest in
the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571, Laws of Hong
Kong) nor does he hold any other position with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan, aged 32, was an executive Director
during the period from 12 November 2010 to 3 April 2013 and
was re-appointed as an executive Director on 31 March 2014
and the chief executive officer of the Company on 9 February
2015. He is also a director of various subsidiaries of the Company.
He holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Business Economics
from University of California-Santa Barbara and a Master Degree
in Finance from Peking University. He has extensive working
experience in investment and asset management.

He was an executive director of CWT International Limited (stock
code: 521), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, during the period from 24 October 2013 to 6 February
2015 and was appointed as a non-executive director on 5
September 2017.

He was appointed as an executive director of Global Mastermind
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8063), a company listed on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange, on 24 March 2014.

Save as disclosed above, he did not hold any directorship in other
listed public companies in the last three years and does not hold
any other position with the Company or other members of the
Group.

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan is the son of Mr. Mung King Keung. As
at the 31 December 2018, Mr. Mung Kin Keung is interested in
159,135,802 shares, representing approximately 22.72% of the
issued share capital of the Company, which comprise 53,696,000
shares and 581,802 share options held by Mr. Mung Kin Keung
and 104,858,000 Shares held by China Tian Di Xing, a company
which is owned as t0 99.99% by Mr. Mung Kin Keung.

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan is the spouse of Ms. Dou Candice
Jingyi, the President — Corporate Development of the Company.
Ms. Dou has resigned on 28 February 2019.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan does not
have any relationship with any Directors, senior management or
substantial or controlling shareholder of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEZEHN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fung Wai Ching, aged 49, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 10 October 2014. He is
presently an owner of a printing company in Hong Kong. He has
over 18 years of experience in managing paper, packaging and
printing industries in both China and Hong Kong markets.

He was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of Global Mastermind Holdings Limited (stock code: 8063), a
company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, on 23 June
2014.

Save as aforesaid, he did not hold any directorship in other listed
public companies in the last three years.

Mr. Lei Seng Fat, aged 68, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 18 April 2017. He has 27 years of
management experience in Macau banking industry. Prior to his
retirement in 2014, he was a consultant in Cash Management
Department of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Macau)
Limited. He is currently the general manager of a private company
in Macau, which is engaged in trading of furniture.

He was appointed as a sales director of Shane Global Holding
Inc. (Stock Code: 8482), a company listed on Taiwan Stock
Exchange, on 15 August 2018.

He was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
Man Sang International Limited (stock code: 938), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, on 12 July 2016
and resigned with effect from 5 November 2018.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lei did not hold any directorships in
any other listed public companies in the last three years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy, aged 54, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 10 October 2014. He
was graduated from Lingnan College (now known as Lingnan
University) with an Honours Diploma in Accountancy and
obtained his Master of Science degree in E-Commerce from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He is currently
a proprietor of a certified public accountant practice. He had
worked for various international accounting firms, corporation and
consultant company in Hong Kong. He has working experience
which covered audit and assurance, internal controls, accounting
and information technology.

He was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of Gome Finance Technology Co., Ltd. (stock code: 628), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, on 1
June 2010 and resigned effective from 31 October 2016.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Poon did not hold any directorship
in other listed public companies in the last three years.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERSE

The Directors present their report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The principal activity of the Company is to act as an investment
holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are
set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements. The
Group principally invests in listed and unlisted companies mainly
in Hong Kong, the United States, and Canada.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s business review, discussion and analysis of the
development, operating performance and financial position
and particulars of important events affecting the Group that
have occurred since the end of the year ended 31 December
2018 are set out in sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Financial Summary”
on page 4 to 5, pages 6 to 22 and page 192 respectively. Such
discussions constitute an integral part of this report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December, 2018
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on pages 69 to 70 of this report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company are
set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus account of the Company is available for
distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a
dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(@) itis, or would after payment be, unable to pay it liabilities as
they become due; or

(b)  the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than
the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and
share premium.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 December
2018 including contributed surplus amounted to approximately
HK$173,825,000 (as at 31 December 2017: HK$275,500,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group and the Company are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws and there is no restriction against such right under the
laws of the Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the
Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERSE

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date
of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Mung Kin Keung (Chairrman)
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Fung Wai Ching

Mr. Lei Seng Fat

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy

The term of office of each Director are subject to retirement by
rotation in accordance with the Company’s bye-laws (the “Bye-
laws”).

In accordance with Bye-law 84(1) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Mung Kin
Keung and Mr. Fung Wai Ching, will retire from office of Director
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company (the “AGM”) and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM.

All other remaining Director shall continue in office.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

On 29 February 2016, Excellent Mind Investments Limited, which
is owned as to 60% to Mr. Mung Kin Keung and 40% as to Mr.
Mung Bun Man, Alan, both of them are executive director of
the Company, became a substantial shareholder of the Global
Mastermind Holdings Limited (‘GMHL”). On 22 September 20186,
Hope Master Investments Limited (“Hope Master”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the GMHL entered into an agreement
with the Company to replace the 2015 GMHL Agreement (the
“2016 Hope Master Agreement”). Pursuant to the 2016 Hope
Master Agreement, Hope Master provided management and
administrative services to the Company for the period from 23
September 2016 to 30 September 2018. During the period
from 1 January 2018 to 30 September 2018, the Group paid
management and administrative expenses of approximately
HK$2,865,000.

On 12 October 2018, Hope Master entered into a tenancy
agreement with the Company (the “Hope Master Tenancy
Agreement”). Pursuant to the Hope Master Tenancy Agreement,
Hope Master provided rental office to the Company for the period
from 15 October 2018 to 14 October 2021 (both days inclusive).
During the period from 15 October 2018 to 31 December 2018,
the Group paid rental expense of approximately HK$506,000.
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EEERSE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE (CONTINUED)

On 12 October 2018, Famous Flamingo Limited (“Famous
Flamingo”), another indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
GMHL, entered into a tenancy agreement with the Company
(the “Famous Flamingo Tenancy Agreement”). Pursuant to
the Famous Flamingo Tenancy Agreement, Famous Flamingo
provided rental office to the Company for the period from
15 October 2018 to 14 October 2021 (both days inclusive).
During the period from 15 October 2018 to 31 December 2018,
the Group paid rental expense of approximately HK$285,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group paid
commission and other handling charge of approximately
HK$91,000 to Global Mastermind Securities Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the GMHL.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group received
managerial and administrative service income with the amount of
approximately HK$137,000 from GMHL.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of
the Directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFQO”)) which were notified to the Company and The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were deemed or taken
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were
required to be and were recorded in the register required to
be kept pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) in the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (CONTINUED)

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares of the

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERS
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These shares were registered in the name of Mr. Mung Kin Keung
(“Mr. Mung”).

These shares were registered in the name of and were beneficially
owned by China Tian Di Xing Logistics Holdings Limited (“TDX”), a
company in which Mr. Mung, an executive Director and the chairman
of the Company, holds 99.99% equity interests and Ms. Sin Lai Ni,
spouse of Mr. Mung holds 0.01% equity interest. Therefore, Mr. Mung
is deemed to have an interest in the shares in which TDX is interested.

These represented the share options granted by the Company to the
respective directors, the details of which are provided in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” in this report.

The percentage is calculated on the basis of 700,333,925 shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 December 2018.

Company
Number
of share
options held
Number of shares held iigs3
s 8 BREHE
Personal Corporate Personal
Name of Director Capacity interests interests interests
Bspg &t fHAER EEER BARS
Mung Kin Keung Beneficial owner 53,696,000 -
EGfBA
Interest in controlled - 104,858,000 -
corporation
RRAHEE ER
Bengficial owner - 581,802

Wyt

Percentage

of total

issued shares

as at

31 December

2018

R=E-N\%

Total +=A=+-H
interests (B RTRA
ERAE #Agzasht

(Note 4)

(Hiit4)

53,696,000 7.67%
104,858,000 14.97%
581,802 0.08%
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in
note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

The particulars of movement of the share options
outstanding during the year are as follows:

BRESE

BRARRBBEN S 2 HIBHNRE MW
K27 o

RER MARITEZEREZSEBFHEN
T

Balance as at Balance as at
Date of grant of Expiry date of Exercise price 1 January 31 December
Grantees share option share options per share 2018 2018
RZZB-N\F RZZ-N\f
REA BRERLAH BRERERBH BRTEE —-B—B&% T+ZA=t-B#&H
No. of No. of
HK$ share options share options
BT BREHE BREHA
Director
gz
Mung Kin Keung 15.4.2011 14.04.2021 9,748 581,802 581,802
B2
Other grantees in aggregate 16.4.2011 14.04.2021 9,748 318,606 318,606
RfeRgAes .
900,408 900,408

On 15 April 2011, the Company granted 144,000,000 share
options to the grantees under the New Scheme at the exercise
price of HK$0.27 each. The share options are exercisable for the
period from 15 April 2011 to 14 April 2021 (both dates inclusive).

The grant of 21,000,000 share options to Mr. Mung Kin Keung
was approved by the independent shareholders of the Company
at an extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 15
June 2011.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, no share option was
granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the period was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER'’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2018, so far as is known to the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company, and based on the
public records filed on the website of the Stock Exchange and
records kept by the Company, the interest and short positions
of the persons or corporations (other than the Directors and
chief executive of the Company) in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or
were directly or indirectly, interest in 5% or more of the nominal
value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of the Company or any other
members of the Group were as follows:

Long position in ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
of the Company

Capacity/
Name of shareholder Nature of interests
BRRER 54 EutE
China Healthwise Holdings Limited Beneficial Owner
PR ERERARAT EnBEAA

The percentage is calculated on the basis of 700,333,925 shares
of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2018.

OTHER INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER
THE SFO

Save as disclosed above, so far as is known to the Directors,
there is no other person who has an interest or short position
in the shares and underlying shares that is discloseable under
Section 336 of the SFO.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

On 31 December 2018, the Company announced that the Board
had approved and adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”).

Under the Dividend Policy, the Company does not have any pre-
determined dividend payout ratio. The declaration, payment and
amount of dividends are subject to the Board’s discretion having
regard to the following factors:

(@ the earnings, financial condition, capital requirements and
future plans of the Group;

(o)  the Shareholders’ interests;
(c) the economic outlook;

(d) the contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by
the Company to the Shareholders;

(e) the statutory and regulatory restrictions on the payment of
dividends by the Company; and

()  any other factors the Board may consider relevant.

The Board shall review the Company’s dividend policy from time
to time and may take any amendments that it deems necessary
or desirable.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has complied with the requirements under Rules
3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Company has
received confirmation of independence from all 3 INEDs, namely
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy, Mr. Fung Wai Ching and Mr. Lei Seng Fat
in accordance with Rules 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has reviewed the independence of all INEDs and
concluded that all of them are independent within the definition
of the Listing Rules. Furthermore, the Board is not aware of the
occurrence of any events which would cause it to believe that the
independence of any of the INED has been impaired up to the
date of this report.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

On the basis of information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors at the date
of this report, the Company has complied with the public float
requirement of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December
2018.

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2018, none of the Directors, substantial
shareholders of the Company nor any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a
business which causes or may cause competes or may cause
any significant competition with the business of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year under review, no management and administrative
contracts regarding the entire or any major businesses of the
Company have been entered into or have existed.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group provides a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance to all
staff. Under the MPF Scheme, employer and employees are each
required to make mandatory contributions to the MPF Scheme
and contributions to the MPF Scheme vested immediately.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

The Group and the Company did not have any significant events
after the reporting date.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2018 have been audited by HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB”) who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of HLB as auditors of the Company is to be
proposed at the AGM.

By order of the Board

Mung Kin Keung
Director
Hong Kong, 29 March 2019
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CREARE

The Company is dedicated to maintain a credible framework
of corporate governance with a view to being transparent,
open and accountable to the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles and adopted code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) as its own code on
corporate governance practices. The current practices will be
reviewed and updated regularly to follow the latest practices in
corporate governance.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with the
code provisions of the CG Code during the year, except for the
following deviations:

- The code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code states that non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election.

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy, the INED, is not appointed for
a specific term but is subject to retirement from office by
rotation and re-election at least once every three years
in accordance with the Bye-laws. As such, the Board
considers that such provision is sufficient to meet the
underlying objective of this code provision.

Each INED has, pursuant to the guidelines set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, confirmed he is independent
of the Company and the Company also considers that they
are independent. The term of office of each INED is not
more than three years from date of appointment subject
to the requirement that one-third of all the directors shall
retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting
pursuant to the Bye-laws.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
(CONTINUED)

The code provision D.1.4 of the CG Code provides that
issuers should have formal letters of appointment for
directors setting out the key terms and conditions of their
appointment. The Company did not have formal letters of
appointment for Directors (except Mr. Mung Kin Keung,
Mr. Lei Seng Fat and Mr. Fung Wai Ching). However,
the Directors shall be subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Bye-laws. In any event, all Directors,
including those without a letter of appointment, must retire
by rotation in the manner prescribed under the Bye-laws,
and on re-election of the retiring Directors, shareholders
of the Company are given information that is reasonably
necessary for them to make an informed decision on the
reappointment of the relevant Directors. In addition, the
Directors are required to refer to the guidelines set out in
“A Guide on Directors’ Duties” issued by the Companies
Registry and “Guidelines for Directors” and “Guide for
Independent Non-executive Directors” (if applicable)
published by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in
performing their duties and responsibilities as Directors.
Besides, the Directors are required to comply with the
requirements under statue and common law, the Listing
Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the
Company’s business and governance policies.

The code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code states that the
chairman of the Board should attend the annual general
meeting of the Company.

Due to other business commitment, the chairman of the
Board (the “Chairman”), Mr. Mung Kin Keung, was unable
to attend the annual general meeting held on 7 June 2018
(the “2018 AGM”). However, arrangements including the
attendance of another member of the Board had been in
place to ensure the 2018 AGM was in order.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CREARE

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the codes of
conduct regarding securities transactions by directors and by
relevant employees (as defined in the Code). All directors have
confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company, that they
fully complied with the Model Code during the year.

THE BOARD

The Board currently consists of two executive Directors and three
INEDs.

Composition

Executive Directors:
Mr. Mung Kin Keung (Chairman)
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Fung Wai Ching

Mr. Lei Seng Fat

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy

The number of INEDs is 60% of the Board membership. One
INED have the appropriate professional accounting experience
and expertise. The Board has a balance of skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.
The names and biographical details of each director are disclosed
on pages 23 to 27 of this Annual Report. Mr. Mung Kin Keung is
the father of Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan. Saved as disclosed, there
is no other relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship) among the Board members.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

The Board is responsible both for how the Company is managed
and the Company’s direction. Approval of the Board is required
for the strategy of the Group, major acquisition and disposal,
major capital investment, dividend policy, appointment and
retirement of Directors, remuneration policy and other major
operational and financial matters. In addition, the Board has
also delegated various responsibilities to the audit committee
(the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee (the
“‘Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the investment committee
(“Investment Committee”) of the Company. Further details of
these committees are set out in this report.

During the year, the management had provided all members
of the Board with monthly updates giving a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company’s performance and
position to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to
discharge their duties under the Listing Rules.

During scheduled meetings of the Board, the Board discusses
and formulates the overall strategies of the Group, monitors
financial performances and discusses the annual and interim
results, as well as discusses and decides on other significant
matters.

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties as required under the CG Code. The major
roles and functions of the Board in respect of the corporate
governance are:

- to develop and review the Company’s policy and practices
on corporate governance;

- to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

- to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CREARE

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Roles and functions of the Board and the
management (Continued)

- to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;
and

- toreview the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Board had considered the following corporate governance
matters for the financial year 2018:

- review of the compliance with the CG Code; and

- review of the effectiveness of the internal controls and risk
management systems of the Company through the Audit
Committee.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’

liabilities insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

The Board held 12 scheduled Board meetings during the year
2018. Due notice and board papers were given to all directors
prior to the meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and
the CG Code. The Company Secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary”) assists the Chairman in drawing up the
agenda of each Board meeting and each director may request
inclusion of matters in the agenda. Generally, at least 14-day
notice of a regular Board meeting is given and the Company
aims at giving reasonable notice for all other Board meetings.
The Company Secretary is responsible for taking minutes of
Board meetings and Board committee meetings. Minutes of
Board meetings and Board committees meetings are kept by the
Company Secretary and are open for inspection by any Director/
committee member. Details of individual attendance of Directors
are set out below:

Number of meetings 12

Executive Directors:

Mr. Mung Kin Keung 12/12
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan 12/12
Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Fung Wai Ching 12/12
Mr. Lei Seng Fat 12/12
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy 12/12

The Board has established procedures to enable Directors, upon
reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CREARE

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. Directors are
continually updated on the latest development of the Listing
Rules and other regulatory requirements to ensure compliance
and upkeep of good corporate governance practice. Directors
are also encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

The Company had received record of trainings from each Director
relating to development and refreshment of their knowledge and
skills. The participation by individual Directors in the continuous
professional development is recorded in the table below:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Mung Kin Keung
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Fung Wai Ching
Mr. Lei Sang Fat
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

The roles of chairman and chief executive officer are separate
and are not held by the same individual exercised by different
individuals to ensure their independence, accountability and
responsibility. Mr. Mung Kin Keung is the chairman of the
Company. Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan is the chief executive officer
of the Company. The chairman provides leadership for the Board
and the direction of the Group. The chief executive officer has
overall chief executive responsibility for the Group’s business
development.

During the year, the chairman of the Company met with the INEDs
without the presence of the executive Directors.

Appointment of new Directors is a matter for consideration by the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will review
the profiles of the candidates and make recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, nomination and retirement of
directors.

According to the Bye-laws, any director so appointed by the
Board shall hold office, in the case of filing a casual vacancy, only
until the next following general meeting of the Company or, in the
case of an addition to their number, until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company who shall then be eligible for
re-election at such general meeting. Every Director is subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Except for Mr. Poon Woi Hai, Percy, all the non-executive
Directors (including INEDs) have each signed a letter of
appointment with the Company and have appointed for an initial
term of one year commencing from the date of the letter of
appointment unless terminated in accordance with the terms of
the letter of appointment.

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy, is not appointed for specific term but
subject to the requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting of the
Company pursuant to the Bye-laws.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

To strengthen the functions of the Board and to enhance its
expertise, there are three Board committees namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee formed under the Board, with each performing
different functions. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee are available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. In addition, following the expiration of the
investment management agreement entered into between the
investment manager and the Company on 30 June 2014, on
4 August 2014, an Investment Committee has been established
to assist the Board in overseeing the Company’s investment
strategy and policies, and the establishment and working of
internal control at the operational levels and ensure compliance
with investment restrictions.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has been established with written terms
of reference and currently comprises three INEDs. The Audit
Committee is chaired by an INED with appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. The current members of the Audit Committee are
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy (Chairman), Mr. Lei Seng Fat and
Mr. Fung Wai Ching.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee include:

to serve as a focal point for communication between other
directors and the auditors in respect of the duties relating to
financial and other reporting, internal controls, audits, and
such other matters as the Board may determine from time
to time;

to review the appointment of auditors on an annual basis
including the review of the audit scope and approval of the
audit fees;

to review the annual and interim financial statements prior to
their approval by the Board, and recommend application of
accounting policies and changes to the financial reporting
requirements;

to review the auditor’s management letters (if any) and
management’s responses; and

to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibility by providing
an independent review and supervision of financial
reporting, by satisfying themselves as to the effectiveness of
the internal controls and risk management of the Group and
the adequacy of the audits.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

Set out below is the major work performed by the Audit
Committee during the year included, among other things, the
following:

- to review the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 and for the six months ended
30 June 2018;

- to review the effectiveness of the internal controls system
and risk management; and

- to review and discuss with the external auditor over the
financial reporting of the Company.

The Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the year. Details of
individual attendance of its members are set out below:

Attendance of individual members at Audit
Committee meetings in 2018

Number of meetings 3

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy

(Chairman of the Audit Committee) 3/3
Mr. Fung Wai Ching 3/3
Mr. Lei Seng Fat 3/3
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference, comprising three INEDs and the
Chairman, which meets at least once a year.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
include:

- formulation of the remuneration policy, reviewing and
recommending to the Board the annual remuneration
policy;

- ensuring no Director is involved in deciding his own
remuneration; and

- to consider of the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Group.

The Remuneration Committee held 3 meetings during the year.
Details of individual attendance of its members are set out below:

Attendance of individual members at
Remuneration Committee meeting in 2018

Number of meetings 3

Executive Director
Mr. Mung Kin Keung 3/3

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fung Wai Ching 3/3
Mr. Lei Seng Fat 3/3
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy 3/3

EEEARE

FMWEES
EEEERUFMNZRGUHCEARER
B 2EEEM-ABUFRTEERERA
K-HHEEEEFELRAE K-
THEEG 2 EEAGRBEAE:

—  HIETEHMERER BRAYRAEFSRHFE
TR ER

- WMAMEEEZSHETHESHM K

- EREERAEESAEEEBEZHM-

HIEB RN FRNRITIREH - LB E
BEZHERIMT

;%—AE%M%E%@%%W&E&%
2B 3
HITES

SEmALAE 3/3
BIAFHTESE

BHEIE R AL 3/3
ERORTE 3/3
HERLE 3/3

BRABREERAE | 201888 49



50

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CREARE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference, comprising three INEDs and the
Chairman, which meets at least once a year.

The major roles and functions of the Nomination Committee
include:

to review the structure, size and composition of the Board;
- to assess the independence of INEDs;

- recommend to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors;

- to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection;

—  to review the policy on Board diversity (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) and any measurable objectives for implementing
such Board Diversity Policy and to review the progress on
achieving the objectives; and

- where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual
as an Independent Non-executive Director at the general
meeting, it should set out whenever elect an individual as
an INED (i) the process used for identifying the individual
and why the Board believes the individual and the reasons
why it considers the individual to be independent; (ii) if
the proposed Independent Non-executive Director will be
holding their seventh (or more) listed company directorship,
why the Board believes the individual would still be able to
devote sufficient time to the Board; (iii) the perspectives,
skills and experience that the individual can bring to the
Board; and (iv) how the individual contributes to diversity of
the Board in the circular to shareholders and/or explanatory
statement accompanying the notice of the relevant general
meeting.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

In considering the nomination of a new Director, the Nomination
Committee will take into account the qualification, ability, working
experience, leadership and professional ethics of the candidates.
In determining the independence of directors, the Board follows
the requirements set out in the Listing Rules. According to
the Bye-laws, the Board has the power from time to time and
at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board subject to the
recommendation of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting during the year.
Details of individual attendance of its members are set out below:

Attendance of individual members at Nomination
Committee meeting in 2018

Number of meetings 1

Executive Director
Mr. Mung Kin Keung 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fung Wai Ching 11
Mr. Lei Seng Fat 1/1
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy 1/1
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INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Investment Committee with
written terms of reference, comprising two executive Directors
and the financial controller of the Company.

The major roles and functions of the Investment Committee
include:

- to review, monitor, manage and control the existing
investments;

- to seek, identify, explore, evaluate and appraise potential
investments and performing those necessary due diligence
exercises; and

- to report to the Board, illustrating its work undertaken.

The Investment Committee held 2 meetings during the year.
Details of individual attendance of its members are set out below:

Attendance of individual members at Investment
Committee meeting in 2018

Number of meetings 2
Executive Director

Mr. Mung Kin Keung 2/2
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan 2/2

Financial Controller of the Company
Mr. Wong Siu Hang 2/2
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REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the Company is to ensure that all
employees, including all directors, are sufficiently compensated
for their efforts and time dedicated to the Company and
remuneration offered is appropriate for their duties and in line
with market practice. No Director, or any of his associates, and
executive is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The executive Directors are closely involved in and are directly
responsible for all activities of the Group. The Board considers
that the senior management comprises the executive directors.

Particulars regarding senior management and other Directors’
remuneration and the five highest paid employees as required to
be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set
out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

The remuneration paid to each of the senior management for the
year fell within the following bands:
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the
objectives and principle regarding board diversity for the benefits
of achieving the Company’s strategic objectives with a view of
having a balanced diversity of both skills and experience and
of perspective. Board appointments will be based on merit and
candidates will be considered against measurable objectives,
taking into account the Company’s business and needs.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (CONTINUED)

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
criteria, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, knowledge, professional experience
and skills. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and the
contribution that the selected candidates may bring to the Board.

The directors will consider and review the diversity of the Board
and to set up, if appropriate, measureable objectives according to
the Company’s own business model and specific needs.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Board by ensuring
good information flow within the Board and that board policy
and procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is also
responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman on
corporate governance and the implementation of the CG Code.
The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and has
day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs.

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer. All Directors also have access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that all
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed. The selection,
appointment and dismissal of the Company Secretary is subject
to the Board approval.

The Company Secretary has confirmed that he has taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year, total fees paid/payable to HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited, the Company’s auditors amounted to
approximately HK$430,000 and HK$61,000 respectively for audit
service, and other non-audit services provided by the auditors of
the Company during the year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company and reviewing their
effectiveness. The Board oversees the overall risk management
of the Group and endeavors to identify risks, control impact of
the identified risks and facilitate implementation of coordinated
mitigating measures.

During the year, the Company has adopted and reviewed the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management
procedures which include the policies, procedures, monitoring
and communication activities and standard of behaviour
established for safeguarding the interests of the shareholders
of the Company. The risk management and internal control
systems of the Company aim to help achieving the Group’s
business objectives, safeguarding assets and maintaining proper
accounting records for provision of reliable financial information.
However, the design of the systems is to provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement in the
financial statements or loss of assets and to manage, rather than
eliminate, the risks of failure when business objectives are being
sought.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarized as follows:

° Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group’s
business and operations.

o Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment
criteria developed by the management; and

° Considers the impact and consequence on the business
and the likelihood of their occurrence.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

° Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

° Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

° Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place;

o Revises the risk management strategies and internal control
processes in case of any significant change of situation; and

o Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management
and the Board regularly.

The Company does not have an internal audit function and is
currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up an
internal audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature
and complexity of the Group’s business. It was decided that the
Board would be directly responsible for internal control of the
Group and for reviewing its effectiveness during the year.

The Group has engaged APAC Compliance Consultancy and
Internal Control Services Limited as its risk management and
internal control review adviser (“the Adviser”) to conduct the
annual review of the risk management and internal control
systems for the year ended 31 December 2018. Such review
is conducted annually and the cycles to be reviewed are under
rotation basis. The scope of review was previously determined
and approved by the Board. The Adviser has reported findings
and areas for improvement to the Audit Committee and
management of the Company. The Board and Audit Committee
are of the view that there are no material internal control
deficiencies noted. All recommendations from the Adviser will
be properly followed up by the Group to ensure that they are
implemented within a reasonable period of time.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

Risk Monitoring and Reporting (Continued)

The Company has a policy to assess the likely impact of any
unexpected and significant event that may impact the price of the
shares or their trading volume and to decide whether the relevant
information is considered as inside information that needs to be
disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable pursuant to Rules
13.09 and 183.10 of the Listing Rules and the Inside Information
Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO.

Based on its assessment which covers all material controls
including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions, the Board believes that for the year
ended 31 December 2018, the Company’s internal control
and risk management systems are effective and adequate. The
Board is satisfied that there are adequate resources of staff with
appropriate qualifications and experience in its accounting and
financial reporting team and that sufficient training and budget
have been provided.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company had established a shareholders’ communication
policy and shall review it on a periodic basis to ensure its
effectiveness.

The Company uses a range of communication tools to ensure its
Shareholders are kept well informed of key business imperatives.
These include annual general meeting, annual report, various
notices, announcements and circulars. The Company has also
maintained a corporate website which enables Shareholders,
investors and the public to receive timely and updated information
on the Company.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings
for such substantial issues, including the re-election of retiring
directors.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(CONTINUED)

The Company’s notices to Shareholders for the 2018 AGM were
sent to Shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the
meeting.

An executive director, chairman/members of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee and the representative of external auditor were
available at the 2018 AGM to answer questions from the
Shareholders. The chairman of the 2018 AGM had explained
the procedures for conducting a poll during the meeting. All
resolutions proposed at the 2018 AGM were voted separately by
way of poll. All the votes cast at the said meeting were properly
counted and recorded.

Attendance of individual directors at the Annual
General Meeting in 2018
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HER
Executive Directors: BITES:
Mr. Mung Kin Keung SEmEE X
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan RmXEE v
Independent Non-executive Directors: BIUFHTES:
Mr. Fung Wai Ching TSHEIER £ v
Mr. Lei Seng Fat BROESE v
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi, Percy EEREE v
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
may, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary
signed and deposited in accordance with the bye-law 58 of the
Bye-laws, require a general meeting to be called by the directors
for the transaction of any business specified in the requisition.

A special general meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition. If the Board does not within
twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of the requisition
proceed duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists, or any of
them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the date of deposit of the requisition.

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company,
a Shareholder should lodge a written request, duly signed by
the Shareholder concerned, setting out the proposals at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Board and the Company Secretary. The request
will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrars in
Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the request is proper
and in order, the Company Secretary will pass the request to the
Board. Whether a proposal will be put to a general meeting will be
decided by the Board in its discretion.

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as director is posted on the Company’s website at
www.irasia.com/listco/hk/mastermindcap/.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

Shareholders’ enquiries

General meetings of the Company provide a direct forum
of communication between Shareholders and the Board.
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries in writing to the
Board through the Company Secretary at the principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

The Company Secretary shall forward the Shareholders’ enquiries
to the Board, where appropriate to answer the Shareholders’
questions.

In addition, Shareholders can contact Tricor Secretaries Limited,
the share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong, if they have any
enquiries about their shareholdings, share registration and related
matters.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
PREPARING THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in
preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Company.
The statement of the auditors about their reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 61 to 68.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Bl BT &3+ 6 £ % A R A G

Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

HLB

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE
SHAREHOLDERS OF GLOBAL MASTERMIND CAPITAL
LIMITED

(originally incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in
Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Global Mastermind Capital Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 69 to 191, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group at
31 December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Audiitors’ Responsibilities for the Audiit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
18 3 2 SR R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional

judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matter

BREETEER

BFARETEE

RRETFEEREAMANERHE LY
BB ANHESAMBERREA/EZNE
B ERTHEEUMBAERBREMBERE
REABREETRE R TSHELER
REEBNER -

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

BN ESTNAEEARETEE

Classification and fair value measurement on financial assets

BRUBEEZDBER L FETE

Refer to notes 19 and 34 to the consolidated financial staterments

respectively.
DRNIB AR E B RN 19/K34 -

At 1 January 2018, the Group applied HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments and reclassified all available-for-sale financial
assets with the carrying amounts of approximately
HK$137,693,000 were recognised as financial assets
measured at fair value through profit or loss.
R_ZE-—N\FE—-—A—B  EBE5EEREEUBHREEINE
SR FETLA &é%ﬁ"*ﬂﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁ #137,693,000/% 7T & BT
BRAIHEEVBEE THAREBBERERARTEIEZ
B EE -
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Our audit procedures over the classification and
fair value measurement of the Group’s portfolio
of listed equity and debt securities and unlisted
equity securities included, but were not limited
to:

=%t Em@ZLmHﬂK&LﬁE’é%&#L
MRAZBFEE 2D BERATFEFAEFMFERZ
BT RFEERETRER:

° assessing management’s evaluation in
relation to the classification of financial
assets based on the Group’s business
model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assets;

BiE BEXEERMKEEEHKER .
NEMBEEzaNBRenERNE - Hh
EREHUBEEN B2



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Key audit matter

HEEEE

BB R E

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

BMNETNAEEARESEE

At 31 December 2018, the Group holds listed equity and
debt securities and unlisted equity securities with the
carrying amounts of approximately HK$304,348,000 and
HK$57,442,000 respectively. The unlisted equity securities
do not have a quoted market price in active market. They
were classified as available-for-sale financial assets and
measured at cost less impairment or at fair value in previous
years. Upon application of HKFRS 9, they were reclassified
as financial assets measured at fair value through profit or
loss.

RZFE—-—NF+_A=+—H EBESKEBELTRAKE
BEH KIELTRAF S BREE S 54 /304,348,000
7T }57,442,000/8 7T < 3E E IR A E HF R B TIS EI AT
SRE - BMMERE D BAR A HE I HE 2 I IR
BEXRE—FORAFEFAE - EABTEMBRE LRI FHR
B EESTHERERBEEURATEINNR L HKEE-

The valuation of the Group’s financial assets is based
on a combination of market data and different valuation
models which may require to consider numbers of inputs.
The inputs to the valuation techniques used to measured
fair value are classified into 3 levels fair value hierarchy in
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement.
EEEVBEECHENERMSEBERAEEZEEET
BABE s TRGEREARSFE ARAEAFEZGE
BB GABB D EREBMBRELEFI1RK L FE
FERNZE=ZMRVFEER-

enquiring the management and assessing
the methodologies used in fair value
measurement and the appropriateness
of the key assumptions and parameters
based on our knowledge of the investment
and using our valuation experts;
ERNEFHREBERB ZRBNREES
ZHERER  MERESH M HATE
SRR E ERBRREZ2HRE
M

checking, on sample basis, the accuracy
and relevance of the input data used such
as comparing key underlying financial data
inputs to external sources and investee
companies financial statements and
management information as applicable;
RS AT AR B 2 I KaE 1 - Bl
AALL B RS AR R B TS BUR BN R B KL - LA
U BESRENA 2V BERREERE
B (an@Eh)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
18 3 2 SR R

Key audit matter

HEEEE

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

BMNETNAEEARESEE

The valuation of the financial assets are complex and
requires the application of significant judgment by the
management.

MBEEZBENITER BERKEEERAEKNH G-

The fair value of financial assets were valued by
independent qualified professional valuers.

MBEENRFENABLSEREXGEMETHE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditors’ report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2018

o evaluation of the independent qualified
professional valuers’ competence,
capabilities and objectivity; and
LBV A BEREEMEMCER BN
RESM: &

o checking the arithmetical accuracy on the
valuation model.

BEMEEN 2B EEE-

We considered management’s classification and
fair value measurement on financial assets were
supported by the available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsibilities for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90
of Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

BB R E

EERERZEEERGEMBRRA
AENERE
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BHREEINEFEBRARRIINKEREREER
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BEELE RN YHEERBR T RE RS
BREFHEZEE URERAFELEREG
AR -BRIEFAENR BEREBRUEFELE
2B EEMERNERTER

il

BEEE ERENUBHRES

/

m
%

HE B

TR E

BB BT RSN BRRARENE
£

BHAMER EHRAUBRREREL M
£ B 0 BRAF Sk 88 AR T 8 B A) B KB SR IR ER
BEERE LHAREREMERHZEE K
FoHMRRBRE-N/N\—FREDEFE0MGK
ERERBRRRE BRI ZIPIELBBA-
BT eRARE2ATHEMEMALTA L
FEEEAEE-ABRBESKTHRE
BEReERERRBRESEFENETHEN &
R —BERERRATF R B3R - SRR
AIABERRFEEE R RS ETAHEME
BRELERAIEFESEMBHRRERER
FEAR B M ISR AT RO ERE - BIAREM
$H AR RO AT AR E K

BYAXBREERLHE | 2018F



66

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
BYZHERE

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

BB R E

BRBEIT R BT REMBHRRALENE
£ (&)

o HERAMBHRRZIEBINHAA EHE
AR BREREEER UREE MR
RELTERMRMEER S REH-

e B BEEBRNERAEKIDIMBEN
EEGt R MEEZEBZEE UG Y
BHRERERBR-RMEARE EKEEF
BZAR SERAT BMABRREMZ
BERERAERAEE:

BMEEZZEE (AR ER)EXRZHE
HE WRZHEMEAEZERETER %
FRRVBERMERZERF B 2 REHEH
ZERBRBRE -

B TREZZESFELER  FRLMEH
BEMBYU M HREERERER YRKSE
BBEATREAEMER AT ERFIB LN
FEARLRHEMERE UREEANERT  H
BAp g

NEEZZEQBBZEFET RIFIFEE WL
FRHAMAREMBRRIBIRRER
P B R A B2 AT B8 o AT X BRD RS
WAEL TR BRIPAREARIAFAHKE
GUER RNEBKFERLZBRLT HEERE
IR RSP BB EHERNZAERRE
BEEZARNG  HPPRENEERS B
WA EIR

BRABREERAT | 201858 Q7



68

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
BURHBEMERE

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Yu Chi Fat.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yu Chi Fat
Practicing Certificate Number: PO5467

Hong Kong, 29 March 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mERakEtEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FHExT FHET
Revenue W #5 6 3,461 3,409
Other income H A 2 7 137 178
(Loss)/gain arising in change in fair B i@E=RA A FESIRZ
value of financial assets at fair VB EENTEHEHESL
value through profit or loss 2 (E518) W= (122,160) 78,357
Impairment loss recognised in EHRAHEEBEE
respect of available-for-sale R REEE
financial assets - (2,764)
Impairment loss recognised in B HEEMBEEE
respect of available-for-sale R REBERER
financial assets reclassified from BN EEERE
equity to profit or loss - (28,133)
Cumulative loss reclassified from — ERH R A {4 H & B 75
equity to profit or loss upon BERBE=ENIEE
derecognition of available-for- BamR s 25t EE
sale financial assets - (450)
Administrative expenses and other 17 2 K E fh4C & B S
operating expenses (22,362) (23,621)
Finance costs Bl KA 8 (299) (508)
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRFTSHAT (&) IEF 9 (141,223) 26,468
Income tax expense Frie R 12 - =
(Loss)/profit for the year BATEEANEGEE
attributable to owners of (E518) T
the Company (141,223) 26,468
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
RERakEtEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E2-N\F —T—tF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FHExT T
Other comprehensive income  H 2 E U
Items that may be reclassified H#ZWJEEH 7 EZE K
subsequently to profit or loss: ZHEE :
Change in fair value of available-for- A & 81 75 & EE A FE
sale financial assets b= ) - (27,033)
Reclassification adjustments AHHEYBEELS
relating to available-for-sale ERzEFDERE
financial assets disposed of - 450
Reclassification adjustments AL EBEERE
relating to available-for-sale ERzEFDERE
financial assets impaired of - 28,133
Exchange differences arising on FRBMEBINEBEEZ
translation of foreign operations P 5 = &R
during the year (1) 4)
Other comprehensive FRAHMEE
(loss)/income for the year (E51]) Wz (1) 1,546
Total comprehensive (loss)/ AATBEEAEMEESRE
income for the year (BR) hE=eE
attributable to owners
of the Company (141,224) 28,014
(Loss)/earning per share R (BE) B 13
Basic and diluted (HK cents) BERREE BN (20.17) 3.78

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these  BEM 2 AZESR AT EHRER AKX D -
consolidation financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R E MR AR R &

At 31 December 2018 R—ZE— N\FE+-A=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENERE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y R R 15 4,431 1,719
Intangible assets mEEE 16 5,785 5,785
Available-for-sale financial assets ~ AJ B E M B &= 17 - 137,693
10,216 145,197
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments TETFRIB 424 464
Other receivables H A 8 U5 AR X 7,401 51,021
Deposits paid BEfftEe 1,069 94
Amount due from a related UG — Al B8 R R 3RI8
company 18 330 1,727
Financial assets at fair value HiEEEERAAFEE R
through profit or loss LT EE 19 361,790 339,954
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEHEER 20 38,500 7,017
409,514 400,277
Current liabilities RBEE
Accruals and other payables JE &1 BR 3 N EL M B A+ BR K 21 20,586 6,202
Amount due to a related company & {5t — 8 B8 A B 008 18 920 =
Loan from a director RE—RBRESZ2EXR 22 = 10,000
Obligation under a finance lease BMEMEE N ZEME 23 - 192
21,506 16,394
Net current assets RBEEFE 388,008 383,883
Total assets less current HWEERRBERE
liabilities 398,224 529,080
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e SRR R

At 31 December 2018 R—ZE— N\F+_-_A=+—H

2018 2017
—EB-N\F —E L
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M5 FET FET
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Other financial liability HithH s & &

— non-convertible bond —NA] B R E 5 24 9,899 9,862
Net assets EERE 388,325 519,218
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves EAREEAELRERR

attributable to owners B

of the Company
Share capital fig 7 25 7,003 7,003
Reserves 1 381,322 512,215
Total equity RSB 388,325 519,218
Net asset value per share (HK$) BREEFE (ET) 26 0.55 0.74

The consolidated financial statements were approved and  GFAMBREEN - ZE—hLF=ZA -+ LBHE
authorised for issued by the board of directors on 29 March 2019 EFSHARRENE WLEHTIWALTRE
=

and are signed on its behalf by: =
Mung Kin Keung Mung Bun Man, Alan
E 3L EmX
Director Director
BEF BEF

=)
¥

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these  BEM Z M iE BZSGEATBEHRER ZAEXIED -
consolidation financial statements.

Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2018



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mERREER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company
KARREARE

Available-for-
sale financial
assets Capital
Share Share  Contribution ~ Share option  Translation  revaluation  contribution Accumulated Total
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses equity

R BEEE B4Rt BRERE EXfE EftffE TERE ES) ] EHBE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL T TEL TAL FEL TAL FEL TAL TEL
(Note &) (Note b) (Note ¢) (Note g (Note g)
(Hita) (Hitn) (Hite) (Hiitd) (Hite)

At 1 January 2017 R-E—+%-A—-H 7,003 146,099 646,448 2,665 - 4,361 45,330 (360,702) 491,204
Profit for the year ERaET = = = - - - - 26,468 26,468
Other comprehensive income: 2 Eka:

Exchange differences arising on BEBNEBEEL

translating foreign operations Ei=H = = = = 4) = = - @

Change in fair value of avalable-for- ~ A/ EBBEENTE
28§

sale financial assets - - - - - (27,083) - - (27,033)
Reclassification adjustments relating A ERKEEHER
to avallable-for-sale financial BLEHNDERE
assets disposed of - - - - - 450 - - 450
Reclassification adjustments relating A EB KA ERER
to avallable-for-sale financial BLEHNDERE
assets impaired of - - - - - 28,133 - - 28,133
Total comprehensive income FR2EREEE
for the year - - - - 4 1,550 - 26,468 28,014
At 31 December 2017 RZZE—+E+24
=1+-A 7,003 146,099 646,448 2,665 @ 5911 45,330 (334,234) 519,218
At 1 January 2018 (original stated) ~ R=F—/\F—fA—H
(R%EZ5) 7,003 146,099 646,448 2,665 [ 5911 45,330 (334,234) 519,218
Impact on initial application of MrERBANBRE
HKFRS 9 (note 2) RRIZIRMTE
(Hii2) - - - - - (5,911) - 16,242 10,331
At 1 January 2018 (as restated) R=E-\5-A-AH
(& =51) 7,003 146,099 646,448 2,665 (] - 45,330 (817,992 529,549
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - - (141,223) (141,229)
Other comprehensive loss: A2EER:
Exchange differences arising on BESNEBELY
translating foreign operations EXER = = = = (1) = = - (1)
Total comprehensive loss FRE2ERRLE
for the year = = = = (1) = = (141,223 (141,224)
At 31 December 2018 R=B-NE+ZA
=t-AH 7,003 146,099 646,448 2,665 (5) - 45,330 (459,215) 388,325
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEmB R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 = — %

—NFET_A=+—HILFE

Notes:

The contribution surplus of the Group brought forward represents
the amount transferred from the share premium due to the share
premium reduction effective on 23 November 2015 and various capital
reduction subsequently. Under the Company Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended), the contribution surplus is available for distribution.
However, the Company cannot make a distribution out of the
contribution surplus if: () it is, or would after the payment be, unable
to pay its liabilities as they become due; or (i) the realisable value of its
assets would thereby be less than its liabilities.

Share option reserve represents the fair value of services estimated
to be received in exchange for the grant of the relevant share option
over the relevant vesting periods, the total of which is based on the fair
value of the share option at grant date. The amount for each period
is determined by spreading the fair value of the share option over the
relevant vesting period (if any) and is recognised as staff costs and
related expenses with a corresponding increase in the share option
reserve.

Translation reserve represents exchange differences relating to the
translation of the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations from their
functional currencies to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e. Hong
Kong dollar (‘HK$")) are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the translation reserve. Such exchange
differences accumulated in the translation reserve are reclassified to
accumulated losses on the disposal of the foreign operations.

Available-for-sale financial assets revaluation reserve represents
cumulative gains and losses on revaluation of available-for-sale
financial assets recognised in other comprehensive income less those
cumulative gains and losses recycled and recognised in profit or loss
upon derecognition of available-for-sale financial assets.

Capital contribution reserve represents Mr. Mung Kin Keung (“Mr.
Mung”), a director and substantial shareholder of the Company,
had compensated the Group from suffering loss of deposits paid
for investments in previous years, and fulfilled his responsibility as a
personal guarantee and settled all outstanding balance of deposits paid
for investments.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mEBREREBR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Cash flows from operating REEBRZHRERE
activities
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETS R AT (B518) n F (141,223) 26,468
Adjustments for: E Bt T3l & B E L 582 -
Dividend income % B A (3,380) (2,917)
Interest income FEHKA (81) (492)
Depreciation of property, plant ME BERZBZITE
and equipment 674 576
Loss/(gain) arising in change in BRBTEAQNFESIER
fair value of financial assets at 2B EEANTEED
fair value through profit or loss EEZER/ (M) 122,160 (78,357)
Loss on written off of property, WY - BB MR 2
plant and equipment B8 - 17
Impairment loss recognised in FHHEEMBEE
respect of available-for-sale R 2 REEE
financial assets - 2,764
Impairment loss recognised in FHHEEMBEE
respect of available-for-sale R EEIERERE
financial assets reclassified B BREBRER
from equity to profit or loss - 28,133
Cumulative loss reclassified from — #% |- R AT 4 1 & BA 7%
equity to profit or loss upon BEERNBERENSE
derecognition of available-for- ZiEHEKRZ 25 B8
sale financial assets - 450
Finance costs B KA 299 508
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E2-N\F —T—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Operating cash flows before RetEBEESE T LB
movements in working capital HenE (21,551) (22,850)
Decrease/(increase) in T FRIER A (3 n)
prepayments 40 (339)
Decrease/(increase) in other H b FE W AR ROR A,
receivables (&) 43,620 (50,985)
Increase in deposits paid B (975) (57)
Decrease/(increase) in amount due & U — il B8 38 A &) 218
from a related company B, (3Ehn) 1,397 (1,727)
Decrease in financial assets at FRBREAAFENEREZ
fair value through profit or loss B 75 & B R 4,028 132,224
Increase/(decrease) in accruals and & &1 BR 20 M E b B 1~ BR X
other payables #Zm Crd) 12,750 (30,913)
Increase in amount due to a e — A& R ) FOIR N
related company 920 =
Net cash generated from REEREECESFHE
operating activities 40,229 25,353
Cash flows from investing REXEBZHERE
activities
Purchase of property, plant and BAYME - BE N&E
equipment (3,386) 4)
Proceeds from disposal of HEAHEEMKEE L
available-for-sale financial assets FTi8 338 - 5,719
Purchase of available-for-sale BANHEENBEE
financial assets - (833,678)
Dividend received B E 3,380 2,917
Interest received 2HF B 81 492
Net cash generated from/ REEXREE(EA) =2
(used in) investing activities ReFE 75 (24,554)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mEBREREBR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
Cash flows from financing MEXEKZRERE
activities
Proceed from margin loan from BEREAFRERZ
securities broker FriS 308 1,635 -
Repayment of obligation undera  EEREREBE TET
finance lease (192) (323)
Repayment to a director M—HREEEK (10,000) —
Interest paid EFE (262) (477)
Net cash used in financing MEXBREAZREFE
activities (8,819) (794)
Netincreaseincashandcash BE&REELZEEH
equivalents R 28 31,485 5
Cash and cash equivalents RBEEHIZ2HER
at the beginning of the R&EEEHR
reporting period 7,017 7,016
Effect of foreign exchange rate  /MEE R & 85/
changes (2) (4)
Cash and cash equivalents RBEMRZAER
at the end of the reporting ReZEEER
period 38,500 7,017
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RIS R MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was domiciled in Hong Kong and
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in
Bermuda. The Company’s shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of the Company’s registered
office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM
11, Bermuda. Its principal place of business is situated at
Unit 3107, 31/F, Shun Tak Centre, West Tower, 168-200
Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
HK$, which is also the functional currency of the Company
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(HK$’000) except otherwise indicated.

The principal activity of the Company is to act as an
investment holding company. The principal activities and
place of operations of the Company’s subsidiaries are set
out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) principally engaged in investment in listed and
unlisted companies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time,
the following new and revised standards and interpretations
(collectively referred to as the “new and revised HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”), which are effective for the
Group’s financial year beginning from 1 January 2018. A
summary of the new and revised HKFRSs application by the
Group is set out as follows:

HKAS 40 (Amendments)  Transfers of Investment
Property

HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
(Amendments) HKFRSs 2014-2016
Cycle except HKFRS 12
(Amendments)
HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement
(Amendments) of Share-based Payment
Transactions
HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
(Amendments) Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contract
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contract with

Customers and the related
Amendments

Foreign Currency Transaction
and Measurement of Share-
based Payment Transactions

HK(FRIC) - Int 22

RANHET RGBT ERBUBRE
ZA (FRMBHREEL])

RAFEE AEEERXERATHEES
AEAE ([BEERFERE])BMZH
I MAEERTERI R (0 3R] &
ERTEAMBHREREA])  IRAKER
TE-NFE-A-BRBZHRFELE
Mo NEBEM 25 REIETRETH
WEEABEHIIOT

AR ER ERIEEWME

F405% (BRI A)

BERMEREER BEMBRELER

(f&5T7) —E-NEEC
T-XFEBZ
FEUE (BB
B R 2ERIE
1255 (1BET ) By
48)

ERMBREEL RONRRZ25

FEo5% (BFTA) BERHE

BERMBHREER WEESMBWESE

F45E (BFTA) RI B4R IRBR & 49
—GtHEAE AN
TR A B 5057
MFETA

BERMBREER HHEIA

FO5%

ERMBREER REHEEFEFELHZ

F155% Wes RAEEEIEET

B8 (BERPBRSE INERH KA

ZEZEe ARG ZitE
— 2225
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments and the related consequential
amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 9 introduces new
requirements for 1) the classification and measurement of
financial assets and financial liabilities, 2) expected credit
losses (“ECL”) for financial assets and 3) general hedge
accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the
transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied the
classification and measurement requirements (including
impairment under ECL model) retrospectively to instruments
that have not been derecognised at 1 January 2018 (date
of initial application) and has not applied the requirements
to instruments that have already been derecognised at 1
January 2018. The difference between carrying amounts
at 31 December 2017 and the carrying amounts at 1
January 2018 are recognised in the opening accumulated
losses and other components of equity, without restating
comparative information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be
comparable as comparative information was prepared
under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement.

Accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 9
are disclosed in note 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B IS R R MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. RMFFITREBITEEBHKER
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HEA([FEEMBHREEL])
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED) (#&)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued) %2 BUBREERZIRHMETR
The table below illustrates the reclassification and TREHBBEESTBIRELERNEOR KX
remeasurement of financial assets under HKFRS 9 and ARG ERFEIRV B EERH N IE
HKAS 39 at the date of initial application. ABHzEREE-
HKAS 39 HKFRS 9
carrying carrying
amount at amount at
31 December 1 January
2017 2018
REEBE REEBHE
%) 5305 WA Ho%
RZB-t& RZB-N\F
+ZHA=1—-H Reclassification Remeasurement -A—-H
ZEAEE EXNE Ef:E ZEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT FHT FHT
Financial assets BBEE
Available-for-sale (‘AFS") AEHE ([ATHREE])
financial assets (hote a) NBEE (Wita) 137,693 (137,693) - -
Other receivables Hib BRI 51,021 - - 51,021
Deposits paid Bk % - - %
Amount due from a related company et — B E A A1 FIA 1,727 - - 1,727
Financial assets at fair value through & BBREFUATFETIE ([EH
profit or loss (‘FVTPL’) fnote b) BREAATETIR]) 2
MBEE (Hitb) 339,954 137,693 10,331 487,978
Cash and cash equivalents BekReEBEEE 7,017 - - 7,017
537,506 - 10,331 547,837
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. RHMHFET REIET BB KR
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HER (BB KEHREER])
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED) (#&)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued) BB EHREERFIFHHBT A
(4B

The table below summarises the impact on the Group’s TREARERXEABHRYBEITAEN S

reserves due to reclassification and remeasurement of BhENFTTEHAEERENTE:

financial instruments at the date of initial application:

HKAS 39 HKFRS 9
carrying carrying
amount at amount at
31 December 1 January
2017 2018
REEBE REEESH
£ R %303 % KR F0%:
RZB-t& RZB-N\F
+ZHA=1—-H Reclassification Remeasurement -A—-H
ZRHE EXNE EftE ZERHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Equity g
Available-for-sale financial assets A HEH B EEE(HRE
revaluation reserve 5911 (5,911) - -
Accumulated losses 25ER (334,234) 5,911 10,331 (317,992
(328,323) - 10,331 (317,992)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Notes:

BRANETE R AR BET BB M B
SEA(FEMBHREEL])
(&)
BB ERFIN BT R
(%)

Bt

a)

b)

c)

)

AFS financial assets

From AFS financial assets to financial assets at FVTPL

At the date of initial application of HKFRS 9, the Group’s listed
equity and debts securities and unlisted equity securities of
approximately HK$98,093,000 and HK$39,600,000 were
reclassified from AFS financial assets to financial assets at
FVTPL respectively. The fair value gain of approximately
HK$10,331,000 relating to unlisted equity securities previously
carried at cost less impairment were adjusted to financial assets
at FVTPL and accumulated losses at 1 January 2018. The fair
value gain of approximately HK$5,911,000 relating to listed
equity and debts securities investments previously carried at
fair value were reclassified from AFS financial assets revaluation
reserve to accumulated losses.

Financial assets at FVTPL

The Group has reassessed its investments in equity securities
classified as held for trading investments under HKAS 39 as if
the Group had purchased these investments at the date of initial
application. Based on the facts and circumstances as at the
date of initial application, all of the Group’s investments were
held for trading and continued to be measured at FVTPL.

Impairment under ECL model

ECL for financial assets at amortised cost, including other
receivables, deposit paid, amount due from a related company
and bank balances, are assessed on 12-month (“12m”) ECL
basis as there had been no significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Financial liabilities

There is no impact on the Group’s accounting for financial
liabilities previously carried at amortised costs remained to be

remeasured at amortised cost under HKFRS 9.

a)

b)

c

d
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RIS R MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 18 Revenue,
HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related
interpretations.

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with
the cumulative effect of initially applying this standard
recognised at the date of initial application, 1 January 2018.
Any difference at the date of initial application is recognised
in the opening accumulated losses and comparative
information has not been restated. Furthermore, in
accordance with the transition provisions in HKFRS 15, the
Group has elected to apply the standard retrospectively
only to contracts that are not completed at 1 January 2018.
Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be
comparable as comparative information was prepared
under HKAS 18 Revenue and HKAS 11 Construction
Contracts and the related interpretations.

As the Group does not have any revenue arising from
contract with customers, the application of HKFRS 15
has had no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

Except as described above, the application of other
new and revised HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial performance and
financial positions for the current and prior years and/or
on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material®

(Amendments)

HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment
(Amendments) or Settlement!

HKAS 28 Long-term interests in
(Amendments) Associates and Joint

Ventures'

HKFRS Annual Improvements to

(Amendments) HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle!

HKFRS 3 (Amendments)  Definition of a business?

HKFRS 9 (Amendments) Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation'

HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets

HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
(Amendments) Associate or Joint Venture®
HKFRS 16 Leases'
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts*

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments'

HK(FRIC) - Int 23

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RIS R MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019.

2 Effective for business combination for which the acquisition date
is on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning on
or after 1 January 2020.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will
supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on
the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by
a customer. Distinctions of operating leases and finance
leases are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced
by a model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability have to be recognised for all leases by lessees,
except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease
liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the
present value of the lease payments that are not paid at
that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for
interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease
modifications, amongst others. For the classification of
cash flows, the Group currently presents operating lease
payments are presented as operating cash flows. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to
lease liability will be allocated into a principal and an interest
portion which will be presented as financing cash flows by
the Group.

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised an
asset and a related finance lease liability for finance lease
arrangement where the Group is a lessee. The application of
HKFRS 16 may result in potential changes in classification
of these assets depending on whether the Group presents
right-of-use assets separately or within the same line item
at which the corresponding underlying assets would be
presented if they were owned.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS
16.

At 31 December 2018, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of approximately
HK$10,386,000 as disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements. A preliminary assessment indicates
that these arrangements will meet the definition of a lease.
Upon application of HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of
all these.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RIS R MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

The application of new requirements may result in changes
in measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated
above.

Except as described above, the directors do not anticipate
that the application of other new and revised HKFRSs
issued but not yet effective will have material impact on the
Group’s financial performance and financial positions.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the
years presented, unless otherwise stated.

3.1 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited and by the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBREME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3. FESHBRBE(F

The financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the
end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of
HKAS 17 Leases, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or value in
use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is
calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the
valuation technique equals the transaction price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

3.3

Basis of preparation (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement
date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3. FEEBREE (&)

33 AHEE(H)

3.3 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to owners
of the Company. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to owners of the Company.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.4

3.5

Interests in subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls
an investee of all three of the following elements
are present: power over the investee, exposure, or
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee, and the ability to use its power over
the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s
returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in
any of these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.5

3.6

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expense items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case, the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost or
fair value less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Asset held under a finance lease is depreciated over
their expected useful lives on the same basis as
owned asset. However, when there is no reasonable
certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end
of the lease term, assets are depreciated over the
shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 = — %

—NFET_A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.6 Property, plant and equipment

3.7

(Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis. The principal annual rates are as
follows:

Leasehold improvement Over the lease term
Motor vehicles 20%
Office equipment 20%

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss)
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest income
and interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ —Z— \F+-_A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

Interest and dividend income which are derived
from the Group’s ordinary course of business are
presented as revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9)
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose obijective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3. FEEBREE (&)

BT H (&)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9)
(Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application/
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for
trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ —Z— \F+-_A=+—HILFE

BAEE SRR M A

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
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to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired. For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and
is included in the revenue line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESTHEME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued) MBEIA (&)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of
HKFRS 9)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
financial assets which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting period to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12m ECL represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the end of reporting period. Assessment are
done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting period as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

For all instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ —Z— \F+-_A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FEEHBRME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued) METH (&)
Financial assets (Continued) BBEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application of BB EERE (JEFE B HHREE
HKFRS 9) (Continued) RIF9F1Z) (#&)
Significant increase in credit risk S VER N R
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased EAfEEVREREEERARES
significantly since initial recognition, the Group R BE 3G 0B - 2N 55 B & L S R HR
compares the risk of a default occurring on the B 7% T B 38 A 38 40 2 2L B B R )
financial instrument as at the reporting period with the MR BT AZRARLYZA
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument B mims ARBEZREEE
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this &—J%ZﬁE&EﬁZi@fﬂ BiEA
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative TRBNEFTNEBERARE N
and qualitative information that is reasonable and EHTHX SZHIEMEER -

supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into LER HEEEERRES AEG
account when assessing whether credit risk has e B ERUATER:
increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in o  HIIAZHNER (fHAE)FHAZ
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or EENSCERNEREER
internal credit rating; 1t

e  significant deterioration in external market o HNEITISEERRIEZEER
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant It - EEFMZ BHAERE
increase in the credit spread, the credit default A2 BB AR R IR G A0

swap prices for the debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESTHRUE (&

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued) 38 MK TR (&)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of
HKFRS 9) (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BAEE SRR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ —Z— \F+-_A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of
HKFRS 9) (Continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(@ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESHBRME (#F
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.8 Financial instruments (Continued) 38 MK TR (&)

Financial assets (Continued) BBEE (&)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of BB EERE (EFE B HHREE

HKFRS 9) (Continued) RIF9F1Z) (#&)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued) SERBEVBEE (£)

() the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or (c) BHRAMERAEBB@EZRA
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s BTG R BE A E S & KR B
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower MERASLEHERATE ST
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not EEHNER:

otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower d) BRARETEBERESE
will enter bankruptcy or other financial ITEMBA R EH: 2k
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that () HRUBRE MBKEETR
financial asset because of financial difficulties. MI5HE K

Write-off policy S KR

The Group writes off a financial asset when there ERBREFHIERBREVERE
is information indicating that the counterparty is in N B PR U (B AT BE R - AN & [ AU
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic HIBEE KEREEER®E (¥
prospect of recovery. Financial assets written off may B  BEMENMBEERRINA
still be subject to enforcement activities under the BEAEBIWNEIEFETRSIBITIE
Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account B) o W SH B A HUB MR 18 o (A E
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes B EEESPER

a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESTHRUE (&

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued) 38 MK TR (&)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of
HKFRS 9) (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater
for cases where evidence at the individual instrument
level may not yet be available, the financial instruments
are grouped on the following basis:

° Nature of financial instruments;

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESTHEME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued) MBEIA (&)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of
HKFRS 9) (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amounts.

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1
January 2018)

Financial assets are classified into the following
specified categories: financial assets at FVTPL,
AFS financial assets and loans and receivables. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of
the financial assets and is determined at the time of
initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales
of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESTHRUE (&

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued) 38 MK TR (&)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1
January 2018) (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial asset is held for trading.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value,
with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial assets and is included
in the revenue line item. Fair value is determined in the
manner described in note 34.

AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as AFS or are not classified as (a) loans
and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c)
financial assets at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESTHRUE (&

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued) 38 MK TR (&)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1
January 2018) (Continued)

AFS financial assets (Continued)

Equity and debt securities held by the Group that are
classified as AFS financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period except for
unquoted equity investments whose fair value cannot
be reliably measured. Changes in the carrying amount
of AFS debt instruments relating to interest income
calculated using the effective interest method are
recognised in profit or loss. Dividends on AFS equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the
Group’s right to receive the dividends is established.
Other changes in the carrying amount of AFS financial
assets are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated under the heading of “available-for-
sale financial assets revaluation reserve” is reclassified
to profit or loss.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less
any identified impairment losses at the end of each
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ —Z— \F+-_A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3. FEEBREE (&)

BT H (&)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1
January 2018) (Continued)

LLoans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. Subsequent to
initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
other receivables, deposits paid, amount due from
a related company and cash and cash equivalents)
are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short-term receivables where
the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets (before application of
HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018)

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are
assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of
each reporting period. Financial assets are considered
to be impaired when there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets
have been affected.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESHBRME (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.8 Financial instruments (Continued) METH (&)

Financial assets (Continued) BBEE (&)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HMHEEERE (R=_F—/F—H—

HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018) (Continued) H e & BB 75 3R & 2E R 99 5T )

(#&)

For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged oAy ﬁ’élﬂ&$&f§ﬁﬁ§ FRBHEATF

decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is BEREBHFETEEEKARATK

considered to be objective evidence of impairment. EWAR ARE 2 %?EE %o

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of RBEEMMBEEEMS  BELE

impairment could include: BIEEARE:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or e BEITARXRZEFEEREANH
counterparty; or R R & sk

e breach of contract, such as a default or o  EX PR B HERA B K
delinquency in interest or principal payments; or ek

e it becoming probable that the borrower will enter e f(&F eSS W ES TR
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or ﬁ‘%é%ﬁ ; 32

e the disappearance of an active market for that s ZMBEEZERTSAMIK
financial asset because of financial difficulties. gk

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the BIRE SH AR MBEEMS

amount of the impairment loss recognised is the ERABREBEECERZEERE

difference between the asset’s carrying amount and BEREVBEERERFERIR 2

the present value of the estimated future cash flows Mt R RRESRERBE2HZERE-

discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ —Z— \F+-_A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESTHEUE (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
BT H (&)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of
HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018) (Continued)

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of
the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at
the current market rate of return for a similar financial
asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in
subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced
by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be
impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to
the extent that the carrying amount of the investment
at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had
the impairment not been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. TEESTHERE (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued) 38 MK TR (&)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of
HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018) (Continued)

In respect of AFS equity investments, impairment
losses previously recognised in profit or loss are not
reversed through profit or loss. Any increase in fair
value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
under the heading of “available-for-sale financial
assets revaluation reserve”. In respect of AFS debt
investments, impairment losses are subsequently
reversed through profit or loss if an increase in the fair
value of the investment can be objectively related to an
event occurring after the recognition of the impairment
loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ —Z— \F+-_A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FEETBRME (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued) 38 MK TR (&)
Financial assets (Continued) BBEE (&)
Derecognition of financial assets (Continued) AR L E (B)
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at R IEERAB KA E 2T
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s BER BERmEMADSWRERK
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration BHENMzEAzZBRN B ER-

received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an AFS financial asset, the R ERA RS EEER &
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the ARAMHEEBEERERENRN
AFS financial assets revaluation reserve is reclassified E= ”r MR RRIBEIEFR S
to profit or loss. EHEme

Financial liabilities and equity instruments HMBEEERERTA

Classification as financial liabilities or equity SR FE E s

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified VHeERETANBREBEEOR
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance 2R BAURBHREaERER LA
with the substance of the contractual arrangements LEBRDERVBEAGEIEE -

and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity

instrument.

Equity instruments #EnTA

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences o TEADNEREEBRIBMESR
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after BEEREE %Zéf%q:‘ AT RS
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments ZEMER - ANEBEFET2ERTE
issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds RUE 2 B3 RIEHIBR B & 21T
received, net of direct issue costs. R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including accruals and other
payables, amount due to a related company, loan
from a director, obligation under a finance lease and
other finance liability — non-convertible bonds) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESTHRUE (&

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
39 AERENEERE

3.9 Impairment of tangible and intangible

assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets
with finite useful lives to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss
(if any). Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever
there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units
(the “CGU”) to which the asset belongs. When a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual CGU, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of CGU for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESTHRUE (&

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
39 AEREFEERE (&)

3.9 Impairment of tangible and intangible

assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwiill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The
carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is
allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or a CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3. FESHBRBE(F

3.10 Revenue recognition 3.10 Yz FE 52

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured; when it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the Group and
when specific criteria have been met for each of the
Group’s activities, as described below.

Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive
payment is established.

Dividend income from listed investments is recognised
when the share price of the investments goes ex-
dividend.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost, the effective interest rate
is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset.

3.11 Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘(loss)/profit
before income tax’ as reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3. FESHBRBE(F

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with interests in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such interests are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESTHRUE (&

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.11 Taxation (Continued) A1 BIE (&)

Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amounts of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity respectively.

3.12Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESTHRUE (&

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.13Employee benefits 313 EEER

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to after
deducting any amount already paid.

Retirement benefit obligations

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

The Group operates a MPF Scheme under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for those employees employed under the jurisdiction
of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
Scheme is a defined contribution scheme, the assets
of which are held in separate trustee-administered
funds.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to
the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
with the employers’ contributions subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The Group’s
contributions to the scheme are expensed as incurred
are vested in accordance with the scheme’s vesting
scales. Where employees leave the scheme prior to
the full vesting of the employer’s contributions, the
amount of forfeited contributions is used to reduce the
contributions payable by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3. FESHBRBE(F

3.13Employee benefits (Continued) 13 EERA (&)

Share-based payment expenses

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
and others providing similar services are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant
date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the
Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest based on assessment
of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates, if
any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the share options
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at
the date of grant, the fair value of the share options
granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to accumulated losses.

120 Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2018

R AP 15 5k B 52

e 8 MR BLRBE 2 K AL
TR 2 IR B R R T IR &
TERRHEBHZATFEFE-

URHEER (LEEEMAFETHE
NGB RT) 2 XA FEREENR
BEERMONT mASE G R
TEKesKRBEENMBUNERZE
W (BRERE) P F
R R EREHR  AEER
EHERMIENISEE IR ZFEE
RIEBHMEBE A TAAE 2
AR RAEMFZEE (WAR
Ba iR LB RS RBREER]
et WAREHERREREE LR
BRHAHSREBRENS
RbER#EZ A FENBREBEZX
B o

EIEBOE TR R - St Al e AR
EREAZEBEHERERMDEE -2
BRENEE R BRI ERNE
HI R R TTEE - BY S8 B B A
BERZBERBREERFTER-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FESTHRUE (&

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.14Leasing 3.147HE

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Asset held under a finance lease is recognised as
assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception
of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the
minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability
to the lessor is included in the consolidated statement
of financial position under the heading of “obligation
under a finance lease”.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance
costs and reduction of the lease obligation so as to
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability. Finance costs are recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly
attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general
policy on borrowing costs.

Operating lease payments, including the cost of
acquiring land held under operating leases, are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

3.15Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ —Z— \F+-_A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. TEESTHEHE (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.16 Provisions 3.16 %16

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, it is probable that the Group will
be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it
is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received
and the amount of the receivable can be measured
reliably.

3.17 Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes
of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3. FESHBRBE(F

3.17 Segment reporting (Continued) 317 HHE (&)

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated
if they share a majority of these criteria.

3.18 Contingent liabilities and contingent

assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a
present obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that outflow of
economic resources will be required or the amount
of obligation cannot be measured reliably. When a
change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that
outflow is probable, they will then be recognised as a
provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of
one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the Group. When inflow is virtually
certain, an asset is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 = — %

—NFET_A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.19Related party transactions

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

U)

(i)

)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same Group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a Group of which
the other entity is a member);

both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party;

Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2018
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.19 Related party transactions (Continued)

(b)  (Continued)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(vii

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
group or to the group’s parent.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources,
services or obligations between the Group and a
related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

Close family members of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—ZF— \F+-_A=+—HILFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, the directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their
economic useful lives. The assessment of estimated
useful lives is a matter of judgement based on the
experience of the Group, taking into account factors such
as technological progress, changes in market demand,
expected usage and physical wear and tear. Useful lives are
periodically reviewed for continued appropriateness. Due
to long lives of assets, changes to the estimates used can
result in variations in their carrying amounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Impairment of intangible assets

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are reviewed
for impairment at the end of each reporting period or
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount of the asset is the higher
of the fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
An estimation of the value in use of the asset involves
estimating the future cash flows expected to arise from its
continuing use and applying the appropriate discount rate
that reflects current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risk specific to the asset.

Impairment of AFS financial assets

At 31 December 2017, the directors follow the guidance of
HKAS 39 to review AFS financial assets at the end of each
reporting period to assess whether they are impaired. This
determination requires significant judgement. In making this
judgement, the directors evaluate, among other factors,
historical share price movements and the duration and
extent to which the fair value of an investment is less than
its cost, and the financial health of and near-term business
outlook for the investee, including factors such as industry
and sector performance, changes in technology and
operational and financing cash flow.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ —Z— \F+-_A=+—HILFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement of financial
instruments under level 3 fair value hierarchy

Certain of the Group’s financial instruments under
level 3 fair value hierarchy amounting to approximately
HK$61,207,000 (2017: HK$1,260,000) at 31 December
2018 are measured at fair values with fair values being
determined based on unobserved inputs using valuation
techniques. Judgement and estimation are required in
establishing the relevant valuation techniques and the
relevant inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to
these factors could affect the reported fair values of these
instruments. See note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements for further disclosures.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining provision for taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises tax liabilities based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
year in which such determination is made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM”) has
been identified as the Company’s executive directors.
The Group’s principal activity is engaged in investment in
listed and unlisted companies. The CODM regard it as a
single business segment and no segment information is
presented.

At the end of the reporting period, non-current assets with
the exception of AFS financial assets included property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets of approximately
HK$4,431,000 (2017: HK$1,719,000) and HK$5,785,000
(2017: HK$5,785,000) which are located in Hong Kong.
The Company’s place of domicile is in Hong Kong which is
determined based on the location of central management.

The Group’s revenue are mainly derived from Hong Kong
during the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

SEAR

SEEEREE ((REEEREE]E
RAAAARNTEF AEEZ LB
BARE LT RELDAT BHLER
HEREAE—EBHE Mm2FHME
Bt

RBERR FERBEE (JHEENB
BEBRINBEURBEBZYE BE R
A R\ & E 494,431,000 7T (=
T —+%:1,719,000/% 7t ) &5,785,000
BT (ZZ—+ 4 :5,785,000% T) o &K
RAZHAEMBEBIRPRERBZMNEM

Eo

B Z—N\FrE_FE—+tF+=A
—t—BLFE AEEZREETBRE
BB

REVENUE Wz
2018 2017
—E-NF  —T—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Dividend income % B U A 3,380 2,917
Interest income B U A 81 492
3,461 3,409
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 E—Z— /\F+-_A=+—HILtFE

7. OTHER INCOME 7. Hitzs
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET

Managerial and administrative service &I & 17 B AR #5 U 25

income 137 142
Net foreign exchange gain P 5 W 22 58 - 36
137 178
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MEMA
2018 2017
—E-N\EF T+
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Interest on: ME
Other financial liability Hin i % B &
— non-convertible bond (note 23) — PR ERES
(K7:t23) 237 237
Finance lease MEMRE 2 10
Other interest expenses to financial RIS 2 B SRS
institutions 60 261
299 508
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 9. KMRETBHA (F5E), RF
(Loss)/profit before income tax is arrived at after charging/ BRATEBA (BB EFemk (5
(crediting): A) Y& !
2018 2017
—ZE-N\F —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Auditors’ remuneration: ZEEM B -
— Audit services —EBZRB 430 380
— Non-audit services —EEZRT 61 11
491 391
Depreciation of property, plant and V¥ -BELZHEIITE
equipment 674 576
Loss on written off of property, plant and ~ #i$5 ¥ % « = M & &
equipment Z B8 - 17
Loss/(gain) arising in change in fair value B @B mRA R FETIEREZ
of financial assets at fair value through & EAFEZEFES
profit or loss Z &R (k) 122,160 (78,357)
Net foreign exchange loss/(gain) PE H B, (Was ) F 58 108 (36)
Operating lease rentals in respect of FEAMEZREHERS
premises 822 34
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

9. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 9. BRFTEHAT (FB) &R (&)
(CONTINUED)
An analysis of the (loss)/gain arising in change in fair value FEREBEEERUAAFEIEZHBEER
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is as TEEFHEL (FB) WEz o
follows: K
2018 2017
—E-N\F —FT—tF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FER FHEIT
Realised gain on disposal of HEZEBRBHERIUAFET
financial assets at fair value R BEEZCE#R
through profit or loss Y 3%
Proceeds from disposal of financial HEFEBEEEUATET)
assets at fair value through FRZ IS B E 2 FR1SFRIE
profit or loss (165,869) (222,712)
Less: Carrying amounts of financial R B RBERRIARTES)
assets at fair value through R BEEL
profit or loss BREE 155,606 195,732
(10,263) (26,980)

Unrealised loss/(gain) on financial assets & @B RIA A FETIEZ
at fair value through profit or loss MEEEZ RS
R () 132,423 (51,377)

122,160 (78,357)
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e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE 10. EERABX

2018 2017

—E-N\E —E—+F

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FERT FATT

Salaries and other allowance e M E A ERY 11,800 13,778
Retirement benefit scheme RARAE FFT 8 51

contributions 174 194

11,974 13,972

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S 11. EERFETHRAEZHFMH
REMUNERATION

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (@) ESRETETHABEZHMH
emoluments

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the BIEEA LR REERQEED
year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing BEREERBZCESERIEITHA
Rules and the disclosure requirements of the Hong BrzMemT:

Kong Companies Ordinances, is as follows:

Retirement
benefits
Salaries and scheme
Fee allowance contributions Total
BHRER
e  HenE eI @t

HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TR TR TAT

2018 it L83

Executive directors: BIEE:

M. Mung Sk 3,300 - 18 3,318

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan SmILE 3,960 330 18 4,308

Independent non-executive BUFHTES:

directors:

Mr. Fung Wai Ching B®ELE 60 - - 60

Mr. Poon Wai Hoi Percy BERLE 60 - - 60

Mr. Lei Seng Fat (rote (i) BRERE (HR) 60 - - 60
7,440 330 36 7,806
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e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 E—Z— /\F+-_A=+—HILtFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 11. EERFTETHAE ZHM

REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) (#&)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (@) ESRETETHAEZHMH
emoluments (Continued) (&)
Retirement
benefits
Salaries and scheme
Fee alowance  contributions Total
RN
we  HeREH BEEE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAT TAR TR TAT

2017 “E—+F
Executive directors; BIES:
M. Mung Sk 3,600 - 18 3618
Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan SEE 3,960 330 18 4,308
Independent non-executive directors: B FFHITES
Mr. Fung Wai Ching B#EELE 60 - - 60
Mr. Poon Wai Hoi Percy BERLE 60 - - 60
Mr. Man Kong Yui (ote () RIS A (M) 18 - - 18
Mr. Lei Seng Fat (note (i) BRELE (M) 42 - - 42
7,740 330 36 8,106
Notes: Wit
0] Mr. Man Kong Yui was resigned on 18 April 2017. i) XREESEER T —EFWMA+N\H
BT
(i)  Mr. Lei Seng Fat was appointed on 18 April 2017. iy FRELERZZT—FNA+/\H

B
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments (Continued)

Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan is also the chief executive
officer of the Company and his emoluments disclosed
above include those for service rendered by him as the
chief executive officer.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year ended 31 December
2018 and 2017.

During the year ended 31 December 2018 and
2017, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Transactions, arrangements or contracts
in which directors have material interests

On 29 February 2016, Excellent Mind Investments
Limited, which is owned as to 60% to Mr. Mung and
40% as to Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan, both of them
are executive director, became a shareholder of the
Global Mastermind Holdings Limited (“GMHL”).

1M1. EERFETHRABEZEMNH
(#&)

(a)

(b)

Y EHREF

EERFETHRABZHMH
(#&)
SmXEENRBERRBZITHAE
REXHEBEBEZEMeBEEEE
THAESRERS ZME -

BE—2-\FR-F2—tF+=
A=t—BLEE BREFHIE
A B A R R R A B R
2 2

BE-T—\FR-F—tF+=
A=+—RAILFE AEBLERE
EXNERMAREE 2 BB T K
BBEE HES

ESREERERZZRE =T
XEN
R-ZF-—X"EF-A=-t+NA:
Excellent Mind Investments Limited
(HEREEREMXTEEEFO0%
K40% MEHBATEE)KNRB
Global Mastermind Holdings Limited
REAXBEEBR QA ([RKKX
W) IR .
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 11. EERFTETHAE ZHM
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) (#&)

b) ESHEREAERZZRE  TH

(b) Transactions, arrangements or contracts

in which directors have material interests
(Continued)

On 22 September 2016, Hope Master Investments
Limited (“Hope Master”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of GMHL, in which Mr. Mung and Mr. Mung
Bun Man, Alan, the directors of the Company, are
also the directors of GMHL entered into an agreement
with the Company to replace the agreement entered
into between the Company and GMHL in 2015
(the “2016 Hope Master Agreement”). Pursuant to
the 2016 Hope Master Agreement, Hope Master
provided management and administrative services
to the Company for the period from 23 September
2016 to 30 September 2018. For the year ended
31 December 2018, the Group paid management
and administrative service fee with amount of
approximately HK$2,865,000 (2017: HK$3,994,000).

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
received managerial and administrative service
income with amounts of approximately HK$137,000
(2017: HK$142,000) from GMHL.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
paid commission and other handling charge with
amounts of approximately HK$91,000 (2017:
HK$36,000) to Global Mastermind Securities Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of GMHL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 11. EERFETHAE ZHM
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) (#&)

b) ESHEREAERZZRE  TH

(b) Transactions, arrangements or contracts

in which directors have material interests
(Continued)

On 12 October 2018, Hope Master and Famous
Flamingo Limited (“Famous Flamingo”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiaries of GMHL, in which Mr.
Mung and Mr. Mung Bun Man, Alan, the directors of
the Company, are also the directors of GMHL entered
into rental agreement with the Company. Pursuant to
rental agreement made between Hope Master, Famous
Flamingo and the Company, the Company agreed to
pay Hope Master and Famous Flamingo rental fee for
the provision of rental service in accordance with rental
agreement. During the year ended, the Company paid
rental expense of approximately HK$506,000 (2017:
nil) and HK$285,000 (2017: nil) to Hope Master and
Famous Flamingo respectively.

Saved as disclosed above, no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts in which the Company
or any subsidiaries of the Company was a party and
in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year. The
above related parties transaction are exempted from
approval under Listing Rule chapter 14A.

HEN (&)

RZZEE—N\F+ A+ =8 Hope
Master R IRIR K@ (H R A2 A
EEEEAERERXEENB
BRABZ2ES)2cHEEZEMN
B A 7lFamous Flamingo Limited
([Famous Flamingo ] ) B2 A 2 &] &
7 & # % © 1R B Hope Master -
Famous Flamingo 82K 2 &) {E H Ay
ERE ARRERERRBREER
& iR E R 7S M Hope Master &
Famous FlamingoX [ H & & A - &
ZXRFEIE NRAFE D5 RHope
Master & Famous Flamingosz &
i X #7506,000/8 7T (—Z & — 4
&) 285,000 L (Z T —+ 4
/) o

B E X ERE SN N RS F REMR
B - BEE AR B S E AT M B A F
R ERARREFTERAHE
REFHRBEEARSE CHMORS &<
B aH - EABEALRZER R
B ETARRE14AT 2B -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 11. EERFTETHAE ZHM

REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) (#4&)

(c) Five highest paid individuals (c) EEESFHFMAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the FR - AEEREESFTFHALTE
highest in the Group for the year included two (2017: FEREZ(ZE—+tF WMB)ES-
two) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the FELMEFBERLEX 2D TH
analysis presented above. The emoluments of the R -HBTI=%(ZFT—+tF:=%4)
remaining three (2017: three) highest paid individuals e ALTZEHMIT

are as follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\F Tt
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Salaries and other allowance e RHEAMIERL 2,276 3,219
Retirement benefit scheme RIRTE A EH B
contributions 54 53
2,330 3,272
No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the AEERMEFEYERNAE RS
five highest paid individual as an inducement to join or FMALTZEM—BALTZNIER
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of MAXEE BB HBBFEE L
office for both years. HES-
The aggregated emoluments of each of the remaining BRTITE=ZB(ZE—tF - =ZHR)&
three (2017: three) highest paid individuals fell within SEMA TN BEEB A TR
the following bands:
2018 2017
—E-N\F T —+F
Nil to HK$500,000 T Z500,0005 7T - -
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 2
1,000,000/%8 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 T2
1,500,0007% 7T, 1 1
3 S
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and
was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong
Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

The subsidiary located in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) is subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at 25%
for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made
as the Group incurred estimated tax losses or the taxable
profits was wholly absorbed by estimated tax losses
brought forward from prior years.

No provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been made
as the Group had no assessable profit arising in or derived
from PRC for both years.

12. FIEHAX

RZE—NE=ZRA-+—HB FHEIE
CRBT (CE—LEHKE (BF]) (F
THOAEEY (T - ZEBISIAT
FISBERAH - KHAER_FTE—NF=
AZ+NBESBEBITR XA FIET-R
BREHMASN aEKEREENY
2,000,000/ 7T i F1| 1 1%28.25% H#i + k8
82,000,000/ 7T & i F Bl 78 1216.5% 1k
B TRFAFEBHMATNEEETEEF
16 4 B 12216.5% 9 [E JE B = -F

EERE BERAGHMARFMYRNE
BEREWBREMSETER-BH
MEHDIEMEFEGBTERBERN 2
16.5%:T & ©

RPEARLAME ([HEZHEA
IR M EFER25% AP BEEEMF
Mo

R AN SR B E AR B AT R B 1R Sk R B0t
MR HOR T FEEE 2 AT HIRE R
B MU BFELEENEH &R

HRASEXMEFELEELNIRE T
B SR A B AT PR R B R S PT
ShisE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ —Z— \F+-_A=+—HILFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 12.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled
to the (loss)/profit before income tax per the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

FRrEBiAx< (&)

MEBEREMEERSRFANMEHFE
S MBS FLAT (B8 ) % A A ER a0
T~

as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—+F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FExT FHEIT

(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETSFL AT (E518) & F (141,223) 26,468
Tax calculated at the rates applicable to  RiE BT 75 =) A &

the tax jurisdictions concerned ZEGE 2 BIIA (23,305) 4,363
Expenses not deductible for tax AT H0A B 52

purposes 1,448 5,326
Income not taxable for tax purposes BEGRHA (1,021) (497)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not  EhFASERIARFER 2 T8 518

recognised - (11,351)
Estimated tax losses not recognised AERZAFRIEERE 22,878 2,159

Income tax expense FrisBiMA =

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused
estimated tax losses of approximately HK$231,325,000
(2017: HK$92,670,000) available for offset against future
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of tax losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams and unrecognised tax losses could be carried
forward indefinitely.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

13. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The computations of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per
share attributable to owners of the Company are based on
the following data:

13.

BR(BR) BF

ARRBEBEANBEERERNLEE (B
8),/ BNz A ETERTHIEEIEL -

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
(Loss)/earnings (B8 &R
(Loss)/earnings for the purpose of basic A LAGT & GG E A K #5515
and diluted loss per share ((oss)/profit 2 (E#8) &F|
for the year attributable to owners of (RNARHEB AEG
the Company) FE (E18),&8H) (141,223) 26,468
2018 2017
—E-N\F el
’000 000
T T
Number of shares BB
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ At ESREAR L E#E
shares for the purpose of basic and (B518) Bz LRk
diluted (loss)/earnings per share IIREFEIEL 700,334 700,334

The basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share are the same
for both years.

As the Company’s outstanding share options where
applicable had an anti-dilutive effect to the basic (loss)/
earnings per share calculation for the year ended 31
December 2018 and 31 December 2017, the exercise of
the above potential dilutive shares is not assumed in the
calculation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share for both
years.

MEEE 2 SREARES (BB) /&
FHER -

RRARE W ARITE 2 EAE (HER)
HBE-_Z-N\F+_A=+—HBR=ZE
—tF+ A=+ —BULEFEESRER
(B8 Bt EAEREEYE &
AERMEFEZSREE (BR) &
B R % b sl 7 S A ) X SR T4
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

14. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid, declared or proposed during the year
ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, nor
has any dividend been proposed by the Board subsequent
to the end of the reporting period.

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14.

Hﬁ /%\

REBE_Z-—N\E+_A=+—HBEE=
E—+F+_A=+—RHILFE EFg
VTESMN ERIEENETARE A
RB|EMRRTEZZAETAKE -

15. X -BMERRE

Leasehold Motor Office
improvement vehicles equipment Total
HEHE AE BAERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET FTEL
Cost RA
At 1 January 2017 R=ZE—t5—H—H - 4,118 285 4,403
Additions 1R - - 4 4
Written off i = = (31) (31)
At 31 December 2017 and RZE—+F+-A=+—H
at 1 January 2018 k=Z2-\F—A—H - 4,118 258 4,376
Additions RN 3,320 - 66 3,386
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F+ZRA=+—H 3,320 4,118 324 7,762
Accumulated depreciation R E
At 1 January 2017 N-ZE—+%&—f—H - 2,014 81 2,095
Charge for the year FRZH - 524 52 576
Written off M = = (14) (14)
At 31 December 2017 and RZE—+F+-f=1+—H
at 1 January 2018 k=F-N\E—A—H = 2,538 119 2,657
Charge for the year FAZH 92 524 58 674
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\E+ZA=+—H 92 3,062 177 3,331
Carrying amounts RHEE
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-NE+ZA=1+—H 3,228 1,056 147 4,431
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+F&+ZA=+—H - 1,580 139 1,719

At 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of motor
vehicle includes an amount of approximately HK$547,000
in respect of asset held under a finance lease (note 23).
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. BLEE
HK$’000
FET
Cost SRS
At 1 January 2017, RZE—tF—H—8"
at 31 December 2017, R-ZE—tF+ZHA=+—8"
at 1 January 2018 and RZZE—N\F—HA—BK
at 31 December 2018 R=ZZT—N\F+=ZA=+—H 5,785
Accumulated impairment losses 2t REEE
At 1 January 2017, R—E—tF—HF—8"
at 31 December 2017, R_E—tF+_HA=+—H"
at 1 January 2018 and RZE-—N\EFE—H—HBk
at 31 December 2018 RZZE—N\F+ZH=+—H -
Carrying amounts FREE
At 31 December 2017 and 2018 RZZE—LtFER=-Z—N\F
+=HA=+—H 5,785
The Group holds life-time memberships with non- Zii'il%ﬁ,”i‘ - /E\.,:l,fr—hiﬁ'
refundable membership fee and is freely transferrable. In EUEHEZR-ZEZRAE LR
the opinion of the directors, the club memberships are /Afiﬁéﬁﬁ/ZKZI /R—I—ﬁﬂf\ﬁﬁé%i‘a? W
capable of being renewed indefinitely at insignificant cost ZHKAFH-
and therefore is perpetual in duration.
The Group performed impairment test for the intangible RIEEB T ERFEIHEERE &
assets by comparing its recoverable amounts to the B @SB RMER T E S EEER
carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period HESEEEEETREIA BEEE
in accordance with HKAS 36 /mpairment of Assets. 2B ESEARFENG L EKRAE
The recoverable amounts of the intangible assets are - BESRAMEFERERERRES
determined based on fair value less cost of disposal and the o

directors consider that no impairment loss was recognised
for both years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

17. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL

17. A HERMKEE

ASSETS
2017
—ET—+F
HK$ 000
FHET
Listed equity and debt securities, EFIRARGEHES
at fair value - a/NS -]
— In Hong Kong —REE 96,035
— Outside Hong Kong —REBEBLASN 2,058
98,093
Unlisted equity securities, at cost EEMRAES LK ANE 42,407
Less: Accumulated impairment losses B REDREEE (Fita)
(note a) (2,807)
39,600
137,693

Upon application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018, the
Group has reclassified all AFS financial assets to financial
assets at FVTPL.

The unlisted equity securities are measured at cost less
impairment at 31 December 2017, because the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that the
directors are of the opinion that their fair values cannot be
measured reliably.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

17. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL

ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of the listed equity securities (exclude
suspended trading security as described below) are
determined based on the quoted market closing prices
available on the relevant stock exchanges at the end of the
reporting period.

At 31 December 2017, the fair value of suspended
trading security listed in Hong Kong with the amount
of approximately HK$1,260,000 was reference to
the valuation carried by Prudential Surveyors (Hong
Kong) Limited (“PSHK?”), a firm of independent qualified
professional valuers. The fair value of suspended trading
security listed in Hong Kong was valued by using the market
approach at 31 December 2017. The discount rate is used
to reflect the risk of exposure to corporate governance,
illiquidity and financial distress etc. perceived by market
participants who hold the suspended shares with remote
likelihood of trade resumption.

At 31 December 2017, the Group’s AFS financial assets
listed in Hong Kong and outside Hong Kong were
determined to be impaired on the basis of material decline in
their fair value below its cost. The directors considered that
such a decline is significant to its original cost and indicated
that the listed securities had been impaired. Therefore,
impairment loss with the amount of approximately
HK$28,133,000 was reclassified from AFS financial assets
revaluation reserve to profit or loss.

17. AEHEMKEE (&)

RBERR LTRARS (FEETX
itz EFEERES) 2 A FEDRRER
MRS PR WM EEE -

RZT—+tF+A=+—H REEBL
Mz EEEERH 2N FEA1,260,000
BTS2 EB LG EREEGEMTA
BOBBERAE (DARITER])#1T
ZHEEE - R_TE—tF+HA=1+—
H REELMZEFEEERSF 2 ATE
TEAmGAETHE - ERMBEEZE
MARMBBEMEEE 2 A et/ N2 &
FEERM MSG2HEER %Zm%a
/|:| //Ibibﬁi&aji&.i“

—E—+tF+ZA=T—HB KTEER
@%&E,%Lwl\tmZ‘Jf/\ﬁ%élﬁi‘%éf
EfEREATEEHRENBEBZRR
EHEATHRTETARBE- EERALR
EHEREKNANERECERBRLET
BHEOEBRRE - Al - MEEBESELD
28,133,000 LB AI L EN B EEEH
RBETOEEBR=-
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

17. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL
ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Note:

(@

Details of the AFS financial assets in respect of unlisted equity

17. TR EENREE (&

Bt

(@ AEELTEARESZAIHBENBEER

securities are as follows: (EFCINE
Carrying
amounts at
31 December
Accumulated 2017
impairment R -Z—+F
Cost of losses +=A
Name of equity securities investment ZEHRE =+—H
MR A FE 5 REKA g Z BRmEE
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET
Click Ventures Segregated Click Ventures Segregated
Portfolio Company Portfolio Company
— Fund Series 3T SP — Fund Series 3T SP 7,800 - 7,800
— Fund Series 3 SP — Fund Series 3 SP 3,900 = 3,900
Eventxtra Limited (“Eventxtra”) Eventxtra Limited
([Eventxtra]) 3,890 (490) 3,400
Fresh Dine One Holdings Limited Fresh Dine One
(“Fresh Dine”) Holdings Limited
([Fresh Dine J ) 3,471 (171) 3,300
Kong City Safety Driving School B R BRI AR
Limited BRAF] 3,600 = 3,600
New Approach Trading Limited New Approach
(“New Approach”) Trading Limited
(['New Approach ] ) 600 (300) 300
New HK Island Three Holdings New HK Island Three
Limited (“New HK Island”) Holdings Limited
([New HK Island |) 5,601 (199) 5,402
New Infrastructure One Limited New Infrastructure
(“New Infrastructure”) One Limited
(New
Infrastructure | ) 1,845 (355) 1,490
New Opportunity One Limited New Opportunity One
(“New Opportunity”) Limited ([ New
Opportunity ] ) 3,900 (200) 3,700
Oddup Inc. (“Oddup”) Oddup Inc. ([Oddup |) 7,800 (1,092) 6,708
42,407 (2,807) 39,600
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

17. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL
ASSETS (CONTINUED)

18.

Note: (Continued)

(@)

(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2017, impairment loss of
aggregate amounts of approximately HK$2,764,000 in respect
of AFS financial assets with the amounts of approximately
HK$257,000, HK$490,000, HK$200,000, HK$355,000,
HK$199,000, HK$171,000 and HK$1,092,000 related to New
Approach, Eventxtra, New Opportunity, New Infrastructure, New
HK Island, Fresh Dine and Oddup respectively. The impairment
loss has been recognised in the difference between the carrying
amounts of the respective investments and the present value of
the estimated future cash flows from the respective investments.

AMOUNT DUE FROM/(TO) A RELATED

17. TR EERREE (&)

Hret: (&)
(@ (&)
RBE-Z—tHF+-_A=+—RALHF

E 9 Bl EENew Approach * Eventxtra * New
Opportunity ~ New Infrastructure » New HK
Island * Fresh Dine &2 Oddup/ #8 2 7] i th &
BF 7% & = #9257,0007% 7T * 490,000/ 7T
200,000 T + 355,000/ 7T * 199,000/ 7T *
171,000/ 7T 12 1,092,0005%8 7T 2 R B E5 18 42
B4 /32,764,000 7T o BB T ER R E
REZEEHARSREMTRRRSREZ
REZEFH-

18. FEW (1Y) —BBE L RANIE

COMPANY
Particular of the amount due from a related company is as FEW—RE AR KRB ZHFBUOT
follows:
Maximum
amount
outstanding
during
the year
FRES
e R 3 A% 2018 2017
&8 —B2-N\fF ZE—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TAT
Global Mastermind RERBEFRARAA
Securities Limited 35,324 330 1,727

The amount due from/(to) a related company is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

U () — R BAiB A R)RE 3 3R
BB NAREREE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

19. EBBEHEBRURATFEIIR 2T B

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS gE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —FT—tF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FERT FHEIT
Listed equity and debt securities: ERARERES
— Equity and debt securities in Hong —REBEBLTZRAR
Kong, at fair value BEES  BATVE 280,310 339,174
— Equity and debt securities outside —REBEBAIN L 2 IR
Hong Kong, at fair value REBES BRATE 24,038 780
304,348 339,954
Unlisted equity and debt securities FELETRARERZS 57,442 =
361,790 339,954

RZFB—-\F—-A-BERBERNHERE
ERFOR R AEBDHAHHEENB
BESHHBRREBEERNARTETIKR
ZHTEEE-

Upon application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018, the
Group has reclassified AFS financial assets to financial
assets at FVTPL.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, financial assets at FVTPL
are stated at fair value.

The fair value of the listed equity and debt securities
(excluded suspended trading securities) are determined
based on the quoted market closing price available on the
relevant stock exchanges at the end of the reporting period.

At 31 December 2018, the fair value of suspended
trading securities listed in Hong Kong with the amounts
of approximately HK$3,765,000 was reference to the
valuation carried by Graval Consulting Limited (‘Graval”), a
firm of independent qualified professional valuers. The fair
value of suspended trading securities listed in Hong Kong
was valued by using market approach with a discount rate
78% at 31 December 2018. The discount rate is used
to reflect the risk of exposure to corporate governance,
illiquidity and financial distress etc. perceived by market
participants who hold the suspended shares with remote
likelihood of trade resumption.

The fair values of unlisted equity securities was arrived on
the basis of valuation carried out by APAC Appraisal and
Consulting Limited (“APAC”), a firm of independent qualified
professional valuers. The fair value of the unlisted equity
securities was valued by using market approach or asset-
based approach as appropriate.

The unlisted equity securities valued by using market
approach was valued with average price-to-sales multiples
(the “P/S multiples”) ranging from 3.9 to 5.16 and
marketability discount ranging from 25% to 35%.

The unlisted equity securities valued by using asset-based
approach was valued based on fair value of individual
business assets less liabilities to arrive the fair value of the
company and minority discount of 5%.

19. ZBRBEBRKRULQFEHR 2 I

&EE (&)

RBERR BBBEERARFEIERZ
MBEERAFEIK-

RMEHR EERARERES (T
REEEERS) 2 A FETDRRIBEZE
FRPBZ B THEEE -

R—ZZE-—NE+_A=+—H RE
BELITTHEEEEEFNATEARY
3,765,000 L WKL EH LA E
REEHEMITEECEBEMBERAR
(MEE D ETHHEETE -REBLTH
BEEEESMAFEDNRAMS AR
B RZE-—N\F+ZA=+—HMHAR
KET8% - MR EANRRBEELEE
ERMAEMEEER MR/ NOTHIZRE
EMRABNDEER  RBETERIMK
RS HEBRAORR -

FLETRAESZN N FEDREABLA
ERIEXMAEMTEAGELERERA
A ([EXR])ETHHEZR - FLTR
REFORFESRATGEREEER
A (WER) -

FRAMSEETHEMNIELTRAES
DIREREEHEE T IEH([MHEERZ
)N F3.9=5.16 M RBIENEN
F25%ZE35%H 1A °

EREEERRETHENIFLHERAE
5o DIRBREREERBEN A TFEE
TE  BHARR R FERDERESR

5% ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2018, a portfolio of equity and debt
securities with the carrying amounts of approximately
HK$32,080,000 (2017: nil) have been pledged to secure
margin loan from securities broker in accruals and other

payables (note 21).

The fair value of the Group’s listed equity securities listed in
Hong Kong and outside Hong Kong (excluded suspended
trading securities) at the date of approval of these financial

statements were approximately HK$322,130,000.

19.

EiB 8 5 IR A D FE S iRz B 55
&EE (&)

RN—E—N\F+_A=+—H EKEEA
#132,080,0008 L (=T —+tF &) Z
BARBEHEEFEECTER LWESE
FREZHBER (FFABTRR R EM
FERBRR) (BFEE21) ©

Rt EZSEHBRERBE AEEBFEN
EBUIINLETTRAZS (TEEEEESE
B ) 2 N FEL A322,130,00078 I ©

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20. RERIBREEEEH
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHT FHT
Cash at banks and on hand RITR e RFERS 38,500 7,017

At 31 December 2018, the Group has cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$46,000 (2017: HK$39,000)

denominated in United States Dollar (‘USD”).

Bank balances carry interest at floating rates and placed
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
performed impairment assessment on bank balances
and concluded that the probability of defaults of the
counterparty banks are insignificant and accordingly, no

allowance for credit losses is provided.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

21. BRI R B AR

2018 2017
—ZE-N\F —FE—LF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Accruals FERTER X 399 303
Margin loan from securities broker BHEKEGLE 2 HRER
(Note) (Htet) 1,635 -
Other payables H A JE 1 BR X 18,552 5,899
20,586 6,202
Note: BiaE
At 31 December 2018, the margin loan from securities broker was RZE-—NF+ZA=+—H BHLELZTEE

secured by a portfolio of equity and debt securities which classified as
financial assets at FVTPL held under the margin account, with carrying
amounts of approximately HK$32,080,000 (2017: nil). The Group’s
margin loan has no determined maturity date and is subject to interest
specified from time to time by securities broker. The effective interest
rate for the year is 6.125% (2017: nil) per annum.

LOAN FROM A DIRECTOR

On 30 November 2016, Mr. Mung, a director and
shareholder of the Company, as a lender, and the Group,
as a borrower, entered into a loan agreement pursuant to
which Mr. Mung has agreed to grant a loan to the Group
with the amount of HK$10,000,000 (the “Loan”). The Loan
is non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. The Loan
is constituted as a connected transaction of the Company
which fully exempted from shareholders’ approval, annual
review and all disclosure requirements under the Listing
Rules. The Group repaid the Loan during the year ended 31
December 2018.

The Loan is unsecured, interest free and repayable on
demand.

HIBFFEEFIE TR 2 BREE 432,080,000/
T (ZE—+F &) ZRAREBES (DEARE
BEEEARTFENERZMBEEE) BE1EEA-
AEEZHFRERVEETHHE  WARESK
HTREEZNERFE - AFEZERFNERR
6.125% (= —+F &) -

22, RKE—RBREEZER

RZE—RE+—A=1+HB ARAE=S
FREREE (ERERA) BAEE (1
BERNFTLERDHE B KAE
B[R E M A& E &% & 510,000,000/ 7T
([Ex]) BRARBRIZEKEE-B
HEK ETRATARRZEERS I
FEHRERRE FEEBRABEHRE
BME-RBEE-_ZT—N\F+_A=+—H
LtFE AEEEEEER-

ERREER RENREREE-
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23. OBLIGATION UNDER A FINANCE LEASE

The Group leased motor vehicle under a finance lease. The
lease term is 3 years. Interest rate of obligation under a
finance lease is fixed at 1.18% per annum. The lease is on
a fixed repayment basis and no arrangements have been
entered into for contingent rental payments. The Group has
options to purchase motor vehicle for a nominal value at the
end of the lease terms.

23.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

MERERERINZ2EMFE

AEEREMEHEHEIF - HHPR=
F-REMEAFEZNESTF1.18% -
MENEEERET NG WEKARE
B RET LR L5 N BB ERE
AREZBREBE =

Present value of

Minimum minimum lease
lease payments payments
®EHE ®EHEE
(N NRZRE
2017 2017
—ET—+tF —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
Amount payable under a finance lease FEFEE NER —F A
within one year X2 5KIE : 194 192
Less: Future finance charges B ARKBMEER @) -
Present value of lease obligations —FRAEEAEZRE
within one year 192 192

At 31 December 2017, the Group’s obligation under a
finance lease is secured by the lessor’s charge over the
leased asset with the carrying amount of approximately
HK$547,000 (note 15).
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

24. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITY — NON-

CONVERTIBLE BOND

On 16 April 2014, the Company issued a non-convertible
bond in a principal amount of HK$10,000,000 (the “Bond”)
which is repayable on the date falling 7 years from the date
of issue of the Bond (the “Maturity Date”). The Company
has an option (the “Prepayment Option”) to repay the
outstanding principal amount of the Bond at any time before
the Maturity Date, but the bondholder shall not redeem the
Bond before the Maturity Date.

The Bond carries interest at the rate of 2% per annum
payable annually in arrears on the last day of each year from
the date of the Bond, provided that the final repayment of
the interest shall be on the Maturity Date. However, for every
10% increase in the net profit in any financial year during the
term of the Bond as compared to the immediate previous
year, the interest rate shall be increased by 1% for that
financial year and with retrospective effect. The following
year's interest rate will be reset at 2% subject to adjustment
depending on the net profit. The interest rate during the
term shall not be less than 2% per annum and not more
than 6% per annum (the “Cap”). Details of the Bond were
set out in the Company’s announcement date 16 April
2014,

The Prepayment Option and the Cap are regarded as
embedded derivatives in the host contract. The directors
assessed the fair value of the Prepayment Option and
the Cap with reference to the valuation performed by
APAC, a firm of independent qualified professional valuers,
which assess the fair value of the Prepayment Option
and the Cap using the binomial method and determined
that the fair value of the Prepayment Option and the
Cap were insignificant on initial recognition and at the
end of the reporting period. Accordingly, fair value of the
Prepayment Option and the Cap were not recognised in the
consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2018
and 31 December 2017.

24.

Hit A E-FAERES

R-ZZE—MOFOA+RE ARFETA
® ¥ /310,000,000 7T 2 I ] E# F 75
(ME%]) BREHFANBEHTEHE
AEFZBEH(TEHMBDEE - ARQA
BRE (TR X2 8 A AT ) b A (E
BEFZABERSRE EEFBAAN
BREPEAERES-

BEHFRFENER2%:TE - AR BES B HRE
AEFRE-BAXN BNBZRRER
HHREIEA AT RNEFFHRNZE
MM BFE  EHNER E—FEMN0%"
% R 2 B SR ZB R AN %3 BB B R
Ne T—F2MERBENRE H2% K
AIRBALA T AT EE - REHA - R R A
BEREF2ONTEEREF6% ([ £
Rl -BEHzHBHRARFRRR-F
—HFEMATARBZAEAR-

ERNEREREREAETEH2HARLT
ETH - EFZ2ZERUAEREEMERM
TR (EFMAB B AT HENER
ReAFE)ET2HENGBEAER L
R 2 A AL A BRI )25 3R LR W
EHRBAER LR 2 AFELTEK -
it B EEERZAFEHER T
—NFE+ZA=+—BEkZZE—tF+=
AR=+—BZ&HEEaMBmERER-
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

24. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITY - NON- 24, H M B EE - T UBRES
CONVERTIBLE BOND (CONTINUED) (#4&)
The Bond recognised in the consolidated statements of REAEE 2 FZa W BRARERZ EFIR
financial position of the Group is calculated as follows: IATEE:
HK$’000
FET
At 1 January 2017 R-—ZE—+tF—H—H 9,825
Interest expense (note 8) FEFZ (K1:28) 237
Interest paid and payable BT R ERFLE (200)

At 31 December 2017 and at 1 January 2018 R —Z—+F+-_A=+—HK

—2—-NF—H—H 9,862
Interest expense (note 8) MERZ (K1:28) 237
Interest paid and payable BT R ERFE (200)
At 31 December 2018 R-ZZE-NE+=ZHA=+—H 9,899
The effective interest rate of the Bond is 2.43% per annum. BHEZEBRFNER2.43% °
The Bond is denominated in HK$. BEHLAB LA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. IR
2018 2017
—B-N\E “E—+f
Number of Number of
shares HK$'000 shares HK$'000
ROEE TEx RingE FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SREBLOIEL LBKR
Authorised: RE:
At1 January/at 31 December W—B—B/+ZA=t—H  100,000,000,000 1,000,000 100,000,000,000 1,000,000
2018 2017
ZE-N\E “E—F
Number of Number of
shares HK$'000 shares HK$'000
i TER DL FET
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAE.
At 1 January/at 31 December ®“-B—-B/+t-A=1-H 700,333,925 7,003 700,333,925 7,003
26. NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE 26. BREEFE
The calculation of net asset value per share is based EREEFENDRERAEENR_Z—N\F
on net assets of the Group at 31 December 2018 +=-A=+—8 & E%{8388,325,000
of HK$388,325,000 (2017: HK$519,218,000) and BT (ZZE—+%F:519,218,0008 7T) &
700,333,925 ordinary shares (2017: 700,333,925 ordinary 700,333,925 B BT E R ( —ZE —+
shares) in issue. % :700,333,025f8 E@M ) sHE -
27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 27. BIRREFTE

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 12
January 2009 (with supplementary amendment on 30 June
2010) (the “Scheme”). Under the Scheme, the directors
may, at their absolute discretion, make an offer to any
participant to take up the options. An offer is deemed to
have been accepted by the grantee upon the duplicate of
the offer letter comprising acceptance of the offer being
duly signed by the grantee and paying HK$1 by way of
consideration for the grant thereof.

RARBRIERZZTENF—A+HBHEMN—
EERETE (R-ZE—ZTFEA=1+H
WrAER]) ([5T811) - BIEFTE - EEA]
PHRMBRBEMDEAZRERE B
BEREAARALRBREZEMNZEHHE
KRB EAREERESMBLIR
Bk BREZZBESEIECHEARARE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) 27. BB FESTEI (&

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide participants
with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the
Company and to encourage participants to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for the
benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

The subscription price for shares in the Company under the
Scheme shall be no less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the daily
quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange on the date on
which an option is granted, (i) the average closing prices of
the shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations
sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date on which an option is
granted and (i) the nominal value of a share of the Company
on the date on which an option is granted.

The total number of shares of the Company which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company shall not in aggregate exceed 144,000,000
shares of the Company, being 10% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of approval of
the Scheme. An option may be exercised during a period to
be notified by the directors but may not be exercised after
the expiry of 10 years after the date of grant of the option.

The maximum entitlement for any one participant is that
the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted to each
participant under the Scheme in any 12-month period must
not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue of the
Company. Any further grant of options in excess of the 1%
limit shall be subject to shareholders’ approval in general
meeting with such participant and his associates abstaining
from voting. The Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years from 12 January 2009.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

All share-based compensation are to be settled in equity.
The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options other than by issuing
the Company’s ordinary shares. The share options do
not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote
at shareholders’ meetings. The share options under the
Scheme have no vesting period.

On 15 April 2011, the Company granted 144,000,000
share options to its directors, employees and other grantees
at an exercise price of HK$0.27 per share. The share
options granted will be exercisable from 15 April 2011 to
14 April 2021 (both dates inclusive). Particulars of the share
options granted under the Scheme were set forth in the
announcement and the circular of the Company dated 15
April 2011 and 30 May 2011 respectively.

At the end of the reporting period, the number of shares
in respect of which may be issued upon exercise of share
options granted and remain outstanding under the Scheme
was 900,408 (2017: 900,408), representing 0.13% (2017:
0.13%) of the shares of the Company in issue at that date.
During the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, no
share option was granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled
under the Scheme.

27. BRERTE (&

AR I HER ARSI - REB
BITARBEBARSN  REEIWEIREK
HETE B (T RE B 8 S A B RO » BB RRHE SE A
BTFHEARBRKREINERAG LRE
HORE ) o IRIERT & - B8 AR 0 45 57 a8 A

R-T——FWOA+THR ARFRMEE
=B B M H b A% A % H1144,000,000
MIERE 1TEESER0.2TE T I
BREAANR _ZT——FOA+HEE_"F
“T—H¥MA+TMOBE(EBREERA)HHE
MITEE - BRARIRF SR H 2 BIREFIT
EHRARREH A T ——FMHA
THEERZZE——FRAA=1THZRAER

RmEBRR TEBEFE 2R EE W
RITE2BRERETEZEITZRG
£ H A900,408% ( —Z —-+ 4 : 900,408
B) MARARZBEETRAZ
0.13% (ZE—+tF:018%) ‘HE_-ZT
—N\FERZE—tF+ZA=+—HLF
E-FEBETHEEREERLD 176
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RIS R MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

27. BIRESTE (&

Movements in share options at the end of the reporting R|ERR BRECZSHOT
period are as follows:
Weighted average
Number of share option exercise price
BREZE MELHTEE
2018 2017 2018 2017
“E2-NF —T+F ZB-NF —TLF
Outstanding at 1 January/ W—A—B/+-RA=1+—H
at 31 December AT 900,408 900,408 9.748 0.748
Exercisable at 31 December RTZA=+—HAFIE 900,408 900,408 9.748 9.748

28. OPERATING LEASES

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases in respect of rented

premises which fall due as follows:

28. K&£fHE

REEFEREBAA

T

RBEPR AEEREHERENEOT
ARG ETHE T 2 RR&IEHEE R F0K

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Within one year —F R 3,726 =
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EERF

(BHREEEMF) 6,660 -

10,386 -

Operating lease payments represented rentals payable by
the Group for its premises. Leases are mainly negotiated for
3 years. The Group does not have an option to purchase the

leased premises at the expiry of the lease period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 29. ARRIZHBMRRAERRFHEED
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE
COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position of the (@) ZA2AEZB AR R T®
Company
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ER S 3,385 294
Intangible asset By EE 1,215 1,215
Available-for-sale financial assets AMHENKEE - 3,900
Interests in subsidiaries NI EVNEIPR 10 10
4,610 5,419
Current assets REEE
Prepayments BRI IR 364 394
Other receivables H B AR 3R 5 5
Deposits paid Bfte 1,069 94
Amounts due from subsidiaries P B A RIFRIR 373,831 493,805
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEEE 6,557 830
381,826 495,128
Current liabilities nEaE
Accruals and other payables JE 7T BR 3R N HL fth & 1< BR 3K 695 4,042
Amount due to a related company e —ER8E A R 2 5RIE 920 =
Loan from a director RE—REZZER - 10,000
1,615 14,042
Net current assets REEETFE 380,211 481,086
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 29. RATZHBMRR KRR FEEZE
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE (%)
COMPANY (CONTINUED)
(a) Statement of financial position of the (@) AT ZBMBEMRRK (&
Company (Continued)
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FAET
Total assets less current liabilities ZEERABEE 384,821 486,505
Non-current liabilities E¥RBEE
Other financial liability HiB B aE
— non-convertible bond —NEJ R E A 9,899 9,862
Net assets EEFHE 374,922 476,643
EQUITY B
Capital and reserves attributable AR FEEABERER FE
to owners of the Company
Share capital [N 7,003 7,003
Reserves [ 367,919 469,640
Total equity e 374,922 476,643
Signed on its behalf of the board of directors by: HUTATREZESTEEE:
Mung Kin Keung Mung Bun Man, Alan
RER EmX
Director Director
EFE EZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBREME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 29. ARRZHBMRARRBERE
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE (#&)
COMPANY (CONTINUED)
(b) Movement of reserve of the Company (b) KRR ZEEERE
Capital
Share  Contribution  Share option  contribution Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
R EE BABRS BRERE EERE 2B @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FHT FHT FTHT FHT
(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢)

(Byzta) (Bizb) (Hrzte)

At 1 January 2017 R-Z—+t%—A-H 146,099 646,448 2,665 45,330 (358,231) 482,311
Loss and total comprehensive FEBERZEBELE
loss for the year = = = = (12,671) (12,671)
At 31 December 2017 and at RZF—+t&+=A=+—-HK
1 January 2018 —F-)\¥-HF—-H 146,099 646,448 2,665 45,330 (370,902) 469,640
Loss and total comprehensive FEBERZEBELE
loss for the year - - - - (101,721) (101,721)
At 31 December 2018 R-2-N\E+=A=1-H 146,009 646,448 2,665 45,330 (472,623) 367,919
Notes: ki
(@  The contributed surplus of the Group brought forward @ AEBZAANEHBHRIERRDEE
represents the amount transferred from the share WAR—ZZE—RF+—AZ+=A4%
premium due to the share premium reduction effective i B8 B AR i (B 2 TRIB R BEIE %
on 23 November 2015 and various capital reduction HEXRHF - REBRE-NN—F
subsequently. Under the Company Act 1981 of Bermuda NENE (IEE]) BERBHIES
(as amended), the contributed surplus is available for & o SR+ AR A B TEIE FHER T
distribution. However, the Company cannot make a EBEHABRER DR : (RESORNER
distribution out of the contributed surplus if: (i) it is, or BEEENHEE RHEEEZERE
would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as BEglrHEaE-

they become due; or (ii) the realisable value of its assets
would thereby be less than its liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

(b) Movement of reserve of the Company
(Continued)

Notes: (Continueq)

)

Share option reserve represents the fair value of services
estimated to be received in exchange for the grant of the
relevant share option over the relevant vesting periods,
the total of which is based on the fair value of the share
option at grant date. The amount for each period is
determined by spreading the fair value of the share option
over the relevant vesting period (if any) and is recognised
as staff costs and related expenses with a corresponding
increase in the share option reserve.

Capital contribution reserve represents Mr. Mung, a
director and substantial shareholder of the Company, had
compensated the Group from suffering loss of deposits
paid for investments in previous years, and fulfilled his
responsibility as a personal guarantee and settled all
outstanding balance of deposits paid for investments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

30. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the
Group had the following significant transactions with related
parties:

(i) Material transactions with related parties:

30. EXBEALRS

BRI FHRa M BRREMEHEE 2
P RAERIN NREBEAEALITTZAT
EARS:

() BEEALTZEAXRS:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
Note HK$’000 HK$ 000
B 5 FEx FET
Managerial and BEft ENEEARZ
administrative service ERRITHRREE
paid/payable to related
company (@ 2,865 3,994
Commission and other B ENEEARZ
handling charge paid/ BekEMFEE
payable to related
company (@) 91 36
Rental expense paid/payable Eff,/ JEFBEER R Z
to related companies HeMX @) 791 =
Managerial and Bl EERRZ
administrative service B8 RITH R
income received/ Wz
receivable from related
company (@ 137 142
Remuneration paid to close S FEXEZEEAE
family members of key ik e ) il
management personnel
— Salaries and other — & REMER
allowances 120 2,078
— Retirement benefits — R IREFIFTEI K
scheme contributions 6 35
126 2,113

Note: (@)  The directors of the Company, Mr. Mung and Mr.
Mung Bun Man, Alan, have beneficial interests in
the related companies.

HiE: @ ARREBEEREERIHEE
ERBEERAREA B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RIS R MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

30. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(i) Compensation of key management
personnel remuneration

Compensation for key management personnel,
including amount paid to the Company’s directors,
chief executive and certain of the highest paid
employees, as disclosed in note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements, is as follow:

30. EXBEALRES (&

(i) FEEBAEZHEHE

FTEEBABZHE REEHEAA
REE FETRABRETESH
e 8 (44 MR 11 BT
B)Z2E&BUT

2018 2017

—E-N\E —E—+tF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Salaries and other allowances e M H fb)ERL 9,484 10,411
Retirement benefits scheme RIKNAE ) FT B 3R

contributions 96 90

9,580 10,501

The remuneration of directors, chief executive officer
and key management personnel is determined by
the remuneration committee having regard to the
performance of individuals and market trends.
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32.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(ili) Details of the balance with related companies and
a director at the end of the reporting period are set
out in notes 18 and 22 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

(iv) On 30 November 2016, Mr. Mung, a director and
shareholder of the Company, as a lender, and the
Group, as a borrower, entered into a loan agreement
pursuant to which Mr. Mung has agreed to grant a
Loan to the Group. The Loan is non-interest bearing
and repayable on demand. During the year ended
31 December 2018, the Group fully repaid the Loan
to the director. The Loan is constituted as a connect
transaction of the Company which fully exempted
from shareholders’ approval, annual review and all
disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

The Group entered into the following major non-cash
investing activity which are not reflected in the consolidated
statement of cash flows:

On 1 April 2017, the Group completed to acquire 30%
equity interests in unlisted company incorporated in
Hong Kong with the amounts of HK$5,601,000 in which
HK$904,000 was paid during the year ended 31 December
2016 as deposit.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates MPF Scheme under rules and
regulations of Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all employees employed in Hong Kong.
The Group has chosen to follow the minimum statutory
contribution requirement of 5% of eligible employees’
monthly relevant income but limited to the mandatory cap
of HK$30,000. The contributions are charged to profit or
loss as incurred. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administrative fund.

30.

31.

32.

EXBEALRS (A

(i) RBERRAFERRREETZH
R FIE D BN AR A B TR R M
F18Kk22 -

(iv) R=ZF—RE+—A=1TH ARQ7
EEZRBERRELE (ERES)ER
SE(EREBHALERBZ &
b REERBRAANEERLER
BRER AT EARRERER -
REE—_Z-NF+-_HA=+—H
HFE AEEBEREEEREEE
K- ERERARBCHAERS R
EEMRAZERCRRIE  FE
EMNMTERBERIE -

EXRFRERS

AEERY M TERGARERERT
R FEIFRSIREES:

R-ZE—+t&MA—B AEEZTKIA
5,601,000/ T W B8 — MR & B a3z
2 3F £ TR FI30% /% # - H F1904,000/%
TERBE-_T—X"F+-_A=+—81t
FEXNEREE -

RIKER T E

AR5 B AR08 B E AR 2 FT RG] 2 AR
AIRBROISEMERERERIBESR
tE AREDEBRIEOAEHRKEE
BEEREESABRBERAZE%HK
B8 AWRA LR RIETE 230,000/ 7T °
PREERESSBDRNKK - REES
2EERAKEZEENRRE LA
—HEBVERESER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RIS R MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ —Z— \F+-_A=+—HILFE

33. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

33.

MEXBEEZAGZHE

%JJ ’E%fﬁ‘i\&#iﬁé f ) o wﬁé%ﬁ‘%?
A7 BERERERECIARKREECRE
REIR imb%%ﬁ?ﬁ#‘:ﬂﬁ%
BeReREZBE

KR AL

Other
financial
liability -
non-
Margin Obligation convertible
loan from Loan from under a bond
securities a director finance Hit
Interest broker RH lease  BIBEE-
payable RHELZ —-3ES BE FaE#R Total
ERFE FRER ZER HERE &% @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TR TR TR FET
At 1 January 2017 R=ZZT—tF—A—H 143 - 10,000 515 9,825 20,483
Financing cash flows BERETE (471) - - (329) = (794)
Non-cash changes FReEE
Interest expenses recognised BRI SRAX
(note 8) (Hi#8) 471 - - - 37 508
At 31 December 2017 and at R=F—+F
1 January 2018 +ZA=+-BR
—T-\¥—R—H 143 = 10,000 192 9,862 20,197
Financing cash flows BERETE (262) 1,635 (10,000) (192) - (8,819)
Non-cash changes FEEES
Interest expenses recognised BHERH 2 g R
(note § (#1:28) 262 - - - 37 209
At 31 December 2018 RZB-NF
+=A=+—-H 143 1,635 - - 9,899 11,677

166 Global Mastermind Capital Limited | Annual Report 2018



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks
through its use of financial instruments in its ordinary
course of operations and in its investment activities.
Financial risks include market risk (including interest rate
risk and foreign currency risk), credit risk, other price risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
focuses on unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. Risk management is carried out
by key management under the policies approved by the
board of directors. The Group does not have written risk
management policies. However, the board of directors meet
regularly and co-operate closely with key management
to identify and evaluate risks and to formulate strategies
to manage financial risks. The Group has not used any
derivatives or other instruments for hedging purposes and
has not held or issued derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes. The most significant risks to which the
Group is exposed to are described below.

34.1 Categories of financial assets and
financial liabilities

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s
financial instruments mainly consisted of AFS financial
assets, financial assets at FVTPL, other receivables,
deposits paid, amount due from a related company,
cash and cash equivalents, accruals and other
payables, amount due to a related company, loan
from a director, obligation under a finance lease and
other financial liability — non-convertible bond.

4. BEAREERAFENE

AEERNEAREERRET METHER
BB R B 7 A T [ e 5 R B A R
oM RRERT SRR (BREMNEE
aRINERR) FEERR EMERR
aMRBETER AEEZEEBRRE
HEIESRMMB AAERNE  AZ R
HAKEHHERRAZBETNTERER
E-EREEATIEEEABREESRS
B2 BRAET - A EREYEE@ERE
BERE-AM EFSTHETBEEA
BEAHGRMERETINEME  UEH &
T A LR DA Ko AT B I B 7% L B 2 SR
AEEWEERTAITETAKEMTA
TES MR g - R\ A L BITITEM S
TEEEERZ AREfMEHIHER
[\ B 1 T SR A

MAMBEERMBREEBZER

RBEHR AEB 2B TATE
BRAELEMKEE BRERR
ARFEFIRZ AT EE - R
B3 EfNEE BKR—HEEEQR
RE R RBALFEER EFER
R EAMENIRR BN —HEER
AIRA-RA—REFZER BE
MEAEUAREMMEEE- A
BH]RES-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RIS R MY R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 34.
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

34.1 Categories of financial assets and
financial liabilities (Continued)

The carrying amounts presented in the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position relate
to the following categories of financial assets and
financial liabilities:

MEEREERAFES
(4&)

i

MAHMBEERMBREZES

(/&

RASBZHEETHMRRKZEIZ
FEEEATHMBEERYHAE
BRER:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FER FET
Financial assets MBERE
Amortised cost B SH P AR
— Other receivables — H b R I BR 3R 7,401 =
— Deposits paid —Bfti&e 1,069 =
— Amount due from a related company ~ — fEUL — &I g &
NRIFIA 330 -
— Cash and cash equivalents - HekResEE
BH 38,500 -
Available-for-sale financial assets AHEENBEE - 137,693
Financial assets at fair value through BREmBEARAFE
profit or loss PR AT EE 361,790 339,954
Loans and receivables ER K EWFIE
— Other receivables — H b U AR K - 51,021
— Deposits paid —Bfi&e - 94
— Amount due from a related company  —EUR —REIRAE A A
RIE - 1,727
— Cash and cash equivalents -RekREEE
15 B - 7,017
409,090 537,506
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 34. KRAKREERATFETE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (%)
(CONTINUED)
34.1 Categories of financial assets and UNABEERNKEEEZEA
financial liabilities (Continued) (#&
2018 2017
—2-N\F T —tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Financial liabilities Bkas
Accruals and other payables JE &1 BR 30 N L FE A+ BR 3K 20,586 6,202
Amount due to a related company  FE{ — EIREE A F1FIAE 920 -
Loan from a director KE—RBREZFEZEX - 10,000
Obligation under a finance lease ~ BIEMEB N2 & - 192
Other financial liability HthI s aE
— non-convertible bond — Al s RS 2 9,899 9,862
31,405 26,256
34.2Market risk 342G Ak
Interest rate risk FI R 7] B

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value
or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates.

The Group has interest-bearing assets in relation to
cash at banks carried at effective interest rates with
reference to the market. The Group’s income and
operating cash flows are substantially independent
of changes in market interest rates. The Group has
not used any financial instruments to hedge potential
fluctuations in interest rates. The exposure to interest
rates risk for the Group’s cash at banks is considered
minimal. The Group has no variable rate interest
bearing borrowings which is not exposed to changes
in market interest rates.

MEER D EM BT A2 AFEK
RenEeRmGHREHMHIR
ME) 2 R AR

AEEAHBREE FRAZEMS
ZEBRMEGFRZRITHEE - AEE
ZWARZERRERNILD BIL
RTIG R R &) - AEE W RERE
] B 76 T B84 B R RO E) - A&
BIRTTIR & 2 B R B R AR BB -
AEEYEEEH TSN LR
ZFBEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

34.2 Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group does not have any significant exposure to
interest rate risk at the end of the reporting period and
is not exposed to changes in market interest rates.

The policies to manage interest rate risk have been
followed by the Group since prior years and are
considered to be effective.

Foreign currency risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong and majority of
transactions are denominated in HK$, USD and
Renminbi (“RMB”). Foreign exchange risk arises from
future commercial transactions, recognised assets
and liabilities, which are denominated in a currency
that is not the functional currency of the Group.

At the end of each reporting period, the carrying
amounts of the monetary assets and liabilities of the
Group, which are denominated in foreign currencies,
are as follows:

. MEEREERAFES
(4&)

i

34.2miE R (&)

FIE@E R (&)
P R - AR B S
KRR AR - I TSR R
B AR -

AEEEREEFEAR—BEBTE
A RRERR < HR - WAL FBR
BR

S L B
REBRBELEERKE DX 5N
BT EXTRARE (ARG
BE-SMNERBEREARHERS B

REELAGE (AAIFANEENE
¥ 2E%E) -

RERERR AEERINEHEZ

EREERBEBEZEREABENAT
Liabilities Assets
=L EE
2017 2018 2017

“PtF Z®-NF CTF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR TER

RMB AR
USD e

72 23,813 =
= 7,054 7,026

The Group is not exposed to foreign exchange risk
in respect of HK$ against the USD as long as this
currency is pegged.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 34, BERBEERAFEE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (#4&)
(CONTINUED)

34.2 Market risk (Continued) 34.2miE Rk (&)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currency. The Group will
monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to
a 5% increase and decrease in HK$ against RMB.
5% is the sensitivity rate used which represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the end of the reporting period for
a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A negative
number below indicates an increase in pre-tax (loss)/
profit where HK$ weaken 5% against RMB. For a 5%
strengthening of HK$ against the relevant currency,
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the
(loss)/profit and the balances below would be positive.

I (AE)

AEEB AL ARLIAINEFEZE
ENRBEHEINEENEEK - NEE
BEEREINERR YR AH
Z IR 8 3 BRSNS EL R o

BBE DT
TERFVNAEBEHBTLARE L
TR T BE5% 2 BURRE - 5% A FTER A
ZHURE R - THE B [ Y [E K]
R2ABBYH T B -HEEDN
EBRERLBUININETE B E
B WS B RILE% 2 B K& F)
ABREBE - TRZABEERTETLE
AREEEES%ERTAT (E8) &%
FIE N2 BEE - WB T AR B
B5% RAlg Y (&i18) & FEKE
BEERZEE MUATEREALE
%(o

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+tF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

RVB AR 1,187 4

Management considered the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign currency risk
as the exposure at the end of each reporting period
does not reflect the exposure during the year.

BEERS ARERERRZER
W ARRBRE R 2 B BERRE DT
TRERKRE G ERR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ —Z— \F+-_A=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4. BERAREERAFEITE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (#4&)
(CONTINUED)

34.2 Market risk (Continued) 34.2miE Rk (&)

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in equity securities measured at FVTPL
(2017: held-for-trading investments and listed equity
and debt securities classified as AFS financial assets).
For equity securities measured at FVTPL (2017:
held-for-trading and AFS financial assets) quoted in
relevant stock exchanges, the directors manages this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments
with different risks. In addition, the Group also
invested in certain equity securities listed in relevant
stock exchanges without quoted market price and
unlisted equity securities for investees operating in
different industry sector which had been classified as
FVTPL. The Group has appointed a special team to
monitor the price risk and will consider hedging the
risk exposure should the need arise.

To manage its market price risk arising from these
investments, the Group diversifies its portfolio.
Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance
with the limits set by the board of directors.

The policies to manage other price risk have been
followed by the Group since prior years and are
considered to be effective.
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FTATsREBIEEERUAFEFEZ
BRAEFBSH (ZE—LFFHEEE
AHEECHBEE)ME EX8
BEFATRARRBOIEEEENE
BEZER I REETTRRERSE
THEMHBEZAFRZM LT Z2RAE
% (EMIHRE) RN TEITHEE
KMEEBFHHEIREARIMNIELTR
rEH (ZEBHFEOEAEBER
RARFEYER) AKEEZEE
EERERERRR UHKREFE
SEEY Pl 7

REBZFREMEEZTERR -
AEBOBEXRKAS - DAEERD
HERREZTSHIRTRGIET-

AEEEBEFEAR—BEETE
BHMERERZBE  XRAZS
BB R o

]]U



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4. BERREERAFEITE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (#4&)
(CONTINUED)

34.2 Market risk (Continued) 34.2miE Rk (&)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses have been determined based
on the exposure to equity price risk at the end of
the reporting period, excluding AFS financial assets
investments measured at cost less impairment
for the year ended 31 December 2017. Sensitivity
analyses for certain equity securities listed in the
Stock Exchange without quoted market price and
unlisted equity securities with fair value measurement
categorised within Level 3 were disclosed in note
34.5. For sensitivity analysis of equity and debt
securities with fair value measurement categorised
within Level 1, the sensitivity rate is increased to 35%
in 2018 (2017: 35%) as a result of the volatile financial
market.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments
had been 35% (2017: 35%) higher/lower, the post-
tax (loss)/profit for the year ended 31 December
2018 would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$105,204,000 (2017: increase/decrease by
HK$99,352,000) as a result of the changes in fair
value of listed equity and debt securities classified as
FVTPL (2017: held-for-trading investments).

If the prices has been 35% higher/lower, other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2017 would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$34,333,000 as a result of the
change in fair value of listed equity and debt securities
classified as AFS financial assets.

HBESH

FURE D AT IRIE R RS AR AER
BRERBRNET #EE-T—+F
TZA=T—HLEFEZEKAR
EREFEZAHEENHEER
O o BB TR AT E T 2 IRAN B 5
(BEMBRE)RAFEAENES
FEZEBARZIELTRARE 2 G
BT RH 34 5B T - s A F
B ENEAFE —BARZBRARE
BHEFZRBEINME  BRS R
MZES HRELER_T—N\F
WEIB% (ZT—HF:35%) °

EERATAZERBE LR T®
35% (ZE—tF:35%) HARSD
EAFBREBERAQRFEYEZ b
MRAREBHBES 2 A FEZE (=
T—tF FEEERE) HEZ
T-NF+-_A=+—BHIFEEZ
Fitg (&8, &8 LA T’
105,204,000 T (ZE—tF: L
Ft,/ T #99,352,0008 7T ) °

HEBRE LR T B35% BN
BRAHLEMBEEZ EHRA
LMEBEFZAFEES BE—
T—tF+A=+—RBLEFE
ZEMEEKES TY®, AL
34,333,000/ JT °
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ —Z— \F+-_A=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)

34.3 Credit risk and impairment assessment

At 31 December 2018, the Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its
credit risks associated with its financial assets. The
Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to other
receivables, deposits paid, amount due from a related
company and cash and bank balances. The Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the
carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

The directors considered the credit risk of the Group’s
other receivables, deposits paid and amount due from
a related company are relatively low as they have a
low risk of default and the counterparty has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations
in the near term.

The Group deposited its bank balances with approved
and reputable banks. Bankruptcy or insolvency of
the banks may cause the Group’s right with respect
to bank balances held to be delayed or limited.
Management of the Company monitors the credit
rating of these banks on an ongoing basis, and
considers that the Group’s exposure to credit risk at
31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 were
minimal.

The Group does not have any other significant
concentrations of credit risk. The exposures to these
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 34, BERBEERAFEE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (#4&)
(CONTINUED)

34.4 Liquidity risk MA4RBESRERE

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not
be able to meet its obligations associated with its
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash
or another financial asset. The Group is exposed to
liquidity risk in respect of settlement of accruals and
other payables, amount due to a related company,
loan from a director, obligation under a finance lease
and other financial liability-non-convertible bond and
also in respect of its cash flow management. The
Group’s objective is to maintain an appropriate level of
liquid assets and committed lines of funding to meet
its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The liquidity policies have been followed by the Group
since prior years and are considered to have been
effective in managing liquidity risks.

mBETERENEERERT
NREXEMYBEETANEERE
THBEEREETZRAREM-
REBAESE R R L E MR
R BN —MERERRIIEA KB
—REFZER BMEMEAERHE
M EEE-— TR ERESUANE
ReRETRTEARRDETR
e AKBEZBRERGRARBEE
KAEGHESRNEE KR LimeEE
HERRPRBHESHT K

AEBEBBEFEAR-—BEETR
PETRR URRZERREERE
mBEERBRITEITZAER
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)

34.4 Liquidity risk (Continued)

Analysed below is the Group’s remaining contractual
maturities for its non-derivative financial liabilities,
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash

34. BB EBEER A FES
(4&)

AR ESRKE (&
Tt AAEB ZETETEE
B FREOEEBER  EFRES
HARTERSREMANEBASN

i

flows and the earliest date the Group can be required REZZFEHH:
to pay:
Total
contractual
Within undiscounted
Effective  one year or cash flow
interest  on demand Within ~ More than &4 Carrying
rate —FRH 2-5years S5years KITERE amount
BERA= EEX —Z1%R BALE REAE BREE
% HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-NE+ZA=1+-H TET TET TERT TERT TET
Non-derivative financial FITEABERE:
liabilities:
Accruals and other payables JE &1 R 30 L At B A< BR X 6.125 20,586 - - 20,586 20,586
Amount due to a related company  JE —FBE AR 2 A - 920 - - 920 920
Other financial liability HinB e E
- non-convertible bond ~ R BB ES 243 200 800 9,800 10,800 9,899
21,706 800 9,800 32,306 31,405
Total
contractual
Within undiscounted
Effective one year or cash flow
interest  on demand Within More than L) Carrying
rate —FRY 2-5 years Syears  AFERE amount
BB M= EER ZZEREN HBBRE MEEE BEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
At 31 December 2017 RZB—t5+ZA=+—H TET TET TEL TEL THET
Non-derivative financial liabilties: — FEFTAA KB (&
Accruals and other payables RETOECTANESA - 6,202 - - 6,202 6,202
Loan from a director RE-ZEZZERN - 10,000 - - 10,000 10,000
Obligation under a finance lease ~ BEMREB T2 &L 1.18 194 - - 194 192
Other financial liability Hibt#a &
~ non-convertible bond — N ES 243 200 800 10,000 11,000 9,862
16,596 800 10,000 27,396 26,256
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(CONTINUED)
34.4 Liquidity risk (Continued)

e B R R B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

34.

The Group considers expected cash flows from
financial assets in assessing and managing liquidity
risk, in particular, its cash resources and other liquid
assets that readily generate cash. The Group’s
existing cash resources and other liquid assets
significantly exceed the cash outflow requirements.

34.5 Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are

measured at fair value on a recurring basis

MEEEREERAFES
(4&)

i

AR ESRKE (&

AEERFEMEERDECER
REBMBEEZHIRERE  F
NEREERMESELREZH
RBEE AEEZRERTER
REMRBEEREBLRERE
HIARE °

45 BT A ZAFE

AEBREEEENRTE
MBEEZRAFE

tEZ

il

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial assets measured at the end of the
reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined
in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. The level
into which a fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation

TRENAFERBSHREZER
ERAEBIWBEELAFE BT
HEBUWBRESEANFISRA FE
FEMRAEE D R/R=BRTERE-
REEFES D ZEBRIERMGE
BRM2EHAEZABRERER

HEEMT

technique as follows:

° Level 1 valuations: fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

at the measurement date;

° Level 2 valuations: fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
input for which market data are not available;

and

° Level 3 valuations: fair value measured using

significant unobservable inputs.

e FERMEE:RAFEEREA
F-EBBHAEFE NERE
EXBERFERHNERT
B2 REHERE:

s F_EBRMEE:ATFEEER
E_EWAEBFE AKRTE
F-EBANABERBAEBREY
BERAEATABEHAE
THBEHAEBR/SRNTSRE
THAZBAE: &

s FZEREE:EAEXRSA
BB AEBHEZAFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. BXERBEERAFEFE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (#&)
(CONTINUED)
34.5Fair value of financial instruments M5B ITR2AFE (&)
(Continued)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
At 31 December 2018 R-E-NE+-A=1+-H F-BX FZEBR FZEBRX @it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER  TER  FER  TAR

Fair value on a recurring basis REEEEGECATE

Financial assets at FVTPL BRBEREULTENRZ
HBEE
- listed equity and debt securities — FRARERES 300,583 - 3,765 304,348
- unlisted equity securities — 3k FRAES - - 57,442 57,442
300,583 - 61,2001 361,790
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
At 31 December 2017 RZB—+F+-A=+-H F-BR F-ER E=ER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx TEx FHL FHL
Fair value on a recurring basis RERERHELATE
AFS financial assets AHENENBKEE
- listed equity and debt securities — EmBRARERES 96,833 - 1,260 98,093
Financial assets at FVTPL classified & @B ZHEAATEFIE
as held for trading investments BOBAREEE
REZHEEE
- listed equity securities —ERAES 339,954 - - 339,954
436,787 - 1260 438,047
The majority of listed equity and debt securities are K& D EmRAREBESDIRET A
denominated in HK$, RMB and USD. Fair values RERETIE - A FELLERENR
have been determined by reference to their quoted FHR AT EEE BEFRRE
market closing price at the end of the reporting period EHIREA 2 BNEASME fE R0 H -

and have been translated using the spot foreign
currency rates at the end of the reporting period where
appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4. BERREERAFEITE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (#4&)
(CONTINUED)

34.5Fair value of financial instruments M5B ITR2AFE (&)

(Continued)

In estimating the fair value, the Group used market-
observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
independent qualified professional valuers to perform
the valuation. The management works closely with
the qualified external professional to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model. The management reports the findings to the
directors at the end of each reporting period to explain
the cause of fluctuations in fair value of the asset.

On 8 August 2018, one of the Group’s equity
securities listed in Hong Kong classified as financial
assets at FVTPL was suspended trading, therefore,
no unadjusted quoted price in an active market is
available. The Group’s then measured fair value
of suspended trading security by reference to the
valuation carried by Graval in which fair value was
measured by using significant unobservable inputs,
thus, the fair value of suspended trading security was
reclassified to Level 3 valuations.

On 3 April 2017, one of the Group’s equity securities
listed in Hong Kong classified as AFS financial assets
was suspended trading, therefore, no unadjusted
quoted price in an active market is available. The
Group’s then measured fair value of suspended
trading security by reference to the valuation carried
by PSHK in which fair value was measured by using
significant unobservable inputs, thus, the fair value of
suspended trading security was reclassified to Level 3
valuations.

RIEET AT ER  NEEKRAREA
1R 2 TG A EBREIE - (WREEENE
—BRzBAE AXEESEEE
VEERERERGEMETHE -BR
EBHEEERHZEEMEMEYHIE:
ARR S A 2 B Rl R AR L 2 &
ANE-EEERSHREHRAZSE
WER UBEEEQATERBZR
o

RZZFE-N\FNANR AEEDHE
%ﬁﬂ?@/\ﬁ%u@:ﬁﬁﬂ Bk 2 B 75
BEZRBEELMZBRARES 2 —
E’*FE% Bt - I #8E BB 5 2 K
BRE-AEEERTEZEE
,ami%?z FEDZ2EEEET
HE - EPEAEATATEEHEA
BAEQAFE At EEFEERS
ZRAVFEEEHRSBERFE=ZRBRMG
B

F_\P\ ﬂﬂﬁ H“

hall]

—E-tFNA=H AEEHEE
75'571 HENBEECRERELT
ZBAFH 2 —EEEE Bt I
BIERMB I REABRRE - KEE
ERGTECEEFEEEES 2 TE
NHB2ERNRTEBET2GHE B
FERERTAERBABTENT
B Bt EEEEESFCATEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ —Z— \F+-_A=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 34.

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

34.5 Fair value of financial instruments
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

MEREREERAFETE
(4&)

RBEE-_ZE—N\EER_ZT—+F
+-A=Z+—HIEFE EF—EBAK
F_EARNZEWEEE -

FHE=BRAFHEHTEZEH

Relation of
Significant significant
unobservable  unobservable
Valuation input inputs to fair value
techniques BAFT BEAFUEHERAR
fRER M BRu\E HAFEZBE
Suspended trading TEEEREE Market Comparable The comparable company
securities listed in Hong Kong £ 2 &% approach company return  return basis is positively
S basis of 3.37%  correlated fair value to
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t012.27% the measurement of
(2017: Nil) the suspended trading
AELBARER securty listed in Hong
REEZI7%E  Kong
12271% (=% FIELRAAEREEE
—tF &) ,\E.EEEBAE%H?
ZBHZ RVHEE

Il
Net asset value  The net asset value per
per share of share is positively
HK$0.008 to correlated to the fair
HK$1.75 value measurement of
(2017: Nil) the suspended trading

SREEFE security listed in Hong
0.0038TTE Kong

1,758 T BREEFEEEEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBREME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 34. KRAKREERATFETE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (%)
(CONTINUED)
34.5Fair value of financial instruments USHETERE2AYE (&)
(Continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements BBEF=EAXAFETEZEH (&)
(Continued)
Relation of
Significant significant
unobservable  unobservable
Valuation input inputs to fair value
techniques N BEAFAEHERAR

fEER M BEHAE EAVPECBRE

Discount rate of ~ The discount rate is
78.01% (2017:  negatively correlated

80.73%) to the fair value
BRIR&78.01% measurement of the
(ZZ—+t%:  suspended trading
80.73%) security listed in Hong
HREXREEEENES
tWz@EH 2 ATER
EZ2B/HE
Unlisted equity and EETBRAR Market Average P/S The average P/S multiples
debt securities BHE S approach multiples of is positively correlated
S 39105.16 to the fair value
(2017: Nil) measurement of the

MHERFHEE  unlisted securities
3.9%5.16 MR EHEE L H
(Z2—tF: BHZATEFEZE
) izl
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+ZA=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

34.5 Fair value of financial instruments
(Continued)

34.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

(Continued)

Valuation
techniques

fEER M

MEEREERAFES
(4&)

i

M5B ITR2AFE (&)

FHE=BRAFHETABZEH (&)

Relation of
Significant significant
unobservable  unobservable
input inputs to fair value

EAFA EXTABREBAE
BEHAE EAVPECBRE
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Asset-based
approach

BEX

Marketability The discount rate is
discount rate negatively correlated
0f 256% t0 35%  to the fair value
(2017: Nil) measurement of the

TSR ER  unlisted securities
25%%E36% AMEXREIEMEFZ
(ZZ2—t%: QVEFEZAHEHE
")

Minority discount The discount rate is
rate of 5% negatively correlated
(2017: Nil) to the fair value

DEIHEFER  measurement of the
5% (=ZZ—+ unlisted securities
FE) ZATEEREIE FHESFL

AT EFTEZBEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 34. BEEBEER A FETE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (#&)
(CONTINUED)
34.5Fair value of financial instruments MNSMBETRZAYEE (&)
(Continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements BEBE=ZEBRXAFEIAEZER (&)
(Continued)
Information about the valuation techniques and inputs FHETEFEERFRIFLTR
used in determining the fair value of the suspended RFEH 2N TFEER 2 E M
trading securities and unlisted equity securities are N ABE2ER TR EXEE-
disclosed above.
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfer into and AEBZHRARERBEEE R
out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the ZEHSBEAEERH I ATE
events or change in circumstances that caused the Wz EE A E -
transfer.
The following table presents the changes in fair value TREVWHDERE=ZEBXEHBEZH
of financial assets which are classified as Level 3 HBEEZAFEEY:
valuations:
HK$’000
FTEx
At 1 January 2017 RZZE—+tF—H—H -
Transfer from Level 1 HBEAEEBRX 6,390
Loss arising on change in fair value of BRERBRUDTEIRZMBEE
financial assets at FVTPL ZAFERYELEE (5,130)
At 31 December 2017 and at 1 January 2018 RZT—tF+ZA=+—HK
—E-N\F—A—H 1,260
Unlisted equity securities reclassified from R 20 FE FA 2 78 B 7 3 5 22 B S O5R Bis
AFS financial assets measured at cost I LMIRABSREK AT E 2
to financial assets at FVTPL upon initial N ENKEESHHEZER
application of HKFRS 9 BREAAFEYRMBEE 39,600
Effect on financial assets remeasured at KA1 A B 8 B 7 s 48 B 205 s
fair value upon initial application of HKFRS 9 HEATEEFHAECHBEE
T 10,331
Transfer from Level 1 BREEE—ER 1,435
Gain on change in fair value of FRBRENLTEIERZ
financial assets at FVTPL MR EEZ ATEZS NS 8,581
At 31 December 2018 R-ZE-NE+=ZH=+-—H 61,207
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34.

35.

BAEE SRR M A

—NFET_A=+—HILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(CONTINUED)

34.5 Fair value of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
that are not measure fair value on a recurring basis

The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities carried at cost or amortised cost were
not materially different form their fair value at 31
December 2018 and 2017.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
provide an adequate return to shareholders.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and
shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future
capital requirements of the Group, prevailing and projected
capital expenditures and projected strategic investment
opportunities. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior years.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue of new
shares or redemption of existing shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.
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35.

MERREERAFENE

()

USHETERE2AYE (&)

WHREEBEFBRAFEZIMBEEE
REBEREZ X FE
RZZE-NFER_ZE—tF+A

=t—8" &ﬁ$j%%ﬁ$ﬂﬁz
MBEEMMBRARZREERR

EZRATEIEEAEER-
EXRERE
AEBEATRZ BRAERASEESR
BRENUFEEELE URBRRTER
FEARE 3R
AEBESREEREMEEELEARR

B UEREBLCEARBLREREDR I
RIS ZE BRI AEE 2 RREXRFE  BA
KRIEF AR M RERERE - K
SEZERBRRETFRISTE -

REFRABERNRE  AREATERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE =T — \F+-A=+—HILFE

35. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 35. EXREE (&)

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts
(which includes loan from a director, obligation under a
finance lease and other financial liability — non-convertible
bond) and total equity.

The gearing ratios at the end of the reporting period are as

REBEBABTIIBEMZERBRE °

AEEZERNRBREBFR (HBER
BE—REFZER REHEERTZAME
NEMPHEE - TR ERES) MED
HEERMERK

REEHRRZEERBLRET

follows:
2018 2017
—E-NF —E—+LF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FER FHEIT
Total debts (note) B REE (H:F) 9,899 20,054
Less: Cash and cash equivalents BB eRASEEER (38,500) (7,017)
Net (cash)/debt (Be)  EBE%FE (28,601) 13,037
Total equity B R 388,325 519,218
Net debt to equity ratio B FRE R X N/ATEA 2.5%
Total debt to equity ratio BB RREE R X 2.5% 3.9%

Note: Total debts comprises loan from a director, obligation under a
finance lease and other financial liability — non-convertible bond.

Wi ERRERERE —REEZER BEM
EAENAEMEBEE - T ERES-
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36. INVESTMENT

Pursuant to the requirements stipulated in Chapter 21.12
of the Listing Rules, the Group discloses its list of all
investments with a value greater than 5% of the Group’s
gross assets and at least 10 largest investments at 31
December 2018 and 31 December 2017 respectively as
follows:

At 31 December 2018

36. RE&E

BiE FHBEAEN12BTHIEE K
SEEER-_ZT—-N\EF+A=+—HK
T tF+ A=+ HFEEERR
AEBEELBE DI HENRZ 10T
BRAREZYIRAT

R-E-N\HF+=-A=+—H

Market value/
fair value
at 31
December
Percentage  Net assets 2018
of equity attributable RZB-NE
interest to the +=A
held  Company Cost of =t+-8 Dividend
Name of equity securities FisERA  ALTEE  investment 2 e/ received
RAES SR BERSE EERE  REMK AFE  BHRE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TR TR THET TET
Listed equity and debt securities EBLTRARERRS
in Hong Kong
Affluent Partners Holdings Limited Affiuent Partners Holdings Limited 2.21 4,793 29,341 43,442 -
BEREERARDA
Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited T kBERERAR 0.04 15,650 19,349 15,545 662
Brockman Mining Limited Brockman Mining Limited 2.95 16,198 44,597 48,616 -
MHRREREERAAN
China Information Technology FEEEREERERAA 3.33 14,850 26,435 17,858 -
Development Limited
Frontier Services Group Limited Frontier Services Group Limited 0.41 4,920 9,597 12,008 -
FERBEEEERAR"
Greenland Hong Kong Holdings Limited I EBERERAR N/ATER NATER 15,600 15758 N/ATEH

Huayi Tencent Entertainment Company Limited B EER A A
Kingston Financial Group Limited SHELREBARAA

Listed equity securities outside Hong Kong &% b\ Sh 2z £ R A% %

Kuang-chi Technologies Co., Ltd. KRERMRHBBAT
Unlisted equity securities EEUSZELTRAES
outside Hong Kong
Click Veentures Segregated Portfolio Company  Click Ventures Segregated Portfolio
Company
— Fund Series 3T SP — Fund Series 3T SP

1.35 11,737 103,487 35,378 -

0.07 15,363 36,608 18,600 200
0.09 7975 25,036 22,402 -
N/ARER NATER 7,800 17,393 -

317,850 247,000
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36. INVESTMENT (CONTINUED) 36. RE&E (&
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+tF+ZA=+—H
Market
Percentage  Net assets value
ofequity  attributable at 31
interest to the Costof ~ December Dividend
Name of equity securities held Company  investment 2017 received
RZZE—tF
T=A
BRAZES L MEBERA  AREERN =+—H

BHEESL  BEFE  HARA 2mE  CHERE
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
TR THRT TRT TR

xR

Equity securities in Hong Kong BBRAES
Affluent Partners Holdings Limited Affluent Partners Holdings Limited 2.21 7,804 29,341 46,138 -
BERRERAT
Brockman Mining Limited* Brockman Mining Limited 3.22 14,463 44,597 30,520 -
hRREBEEBRAR
China Information Technology FEEERRERERAA 3.33 17,804 26,435 25,838 =
Development Limited
China State Construction International FRELARREEERAA 0.04 16,012 21,619 22,996 301
Holdings Limited
CST Group Limited (formerly known as FEEEERAR 1.29 81,290 27,030 20,500 =
NetMind Financial Holdings Limited) (ABRELEEEERAA)
Frontier Services Group Limited Frontier Services Group Limited 1.70 6,605 24,462 40,482 -
FERBEEERAR"
Huayi Tencent Entertainment ERBEAREBRAA 1.34 11,746 102,974 64,255 =
Company Limited"
Kingston Financial Group Limited SHESRHEBERAR 0.07 14,768 36,608 75,000 250
Tai United Holdings Limited AMERER AR 0.63 32,490 33,841 33,239 1,087
Yunfeng Financial Group Limited EREMEBRERAT 0.25 10,561 80,287 32,700 -

427,194 391,668

# Investment was classified as available-for-sale financial assets # REREES B AR EMBEE

*ERES
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36. INVESTMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@)

Affluent Partners Holdings Limited was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 01466). Affluent Partners Holdings Limited is
principally engaged in purchasing, processing, designing,
production and wholesaling and distribution of pearls and
jewellery products and operation of strategic investment and
financial service segment.

For the six months ended 30 September 2018, the unaudited
consolidated loss attributable to the owners of the company was
approximately HK$14,796,000 and its unaudited consolidated
net assets was approximately HK$217,179,000.

Brockman Mining Limited was incorporated in Bermuda and
its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
00159). Brockman Mining Limited is principally engaged in
iron mine acquisition, exploration and development in Western
Australia and exploitation, processing and sales of copper ore
concentrate in the PRC.

For the six months ended 31 December 2018, the unaudited
consolidated loss attributable to the owners of the company was
approximately HK$12,245,000 and its unaudited consolidated
net assets was approximately HK$549,486,000.

China Information Technology Development Limited was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on
the GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 08178). China
Information Technology Development Limited is principally
engaged in the sales of computer hardware and the provision of
software development, system integration, as well as technical
support and maintenance services and leasing of in-house
developed computer hardware.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the audited
consolidated loss attributable to the owners of the company was
approximately HK$75,531,000 and its audited consolidated net
assets was approximately HK$446,479,000.
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36. RE& (&

fa -

(@)

Affluent Partners Holdings Limited$ & 52 i%
BRAFTRFASES MK RERHR
B6 A2 P B (AR 19 5% - 01466)  Affluent
Partners Holdings Limited$ & 15 i% A R 22 7]*
FEREDURARKEER I RKE NI R
BT AEE RBE S RORIR IR E R A SRS
DEL 2 EE e

BE-_Z— )/ \FALA=Z+BHBILEXEA %
RABBABEACERREEBEAY
14,796,000 L R R BEZGEEEFER
#1217,179,000/8 7T

Brockman Mining Limited? % 72 & & % & R
DA B R EE AL R E R ROEE AT
L (B 5% - 00159) ° Brockman Mining
Limited®h 2852 BRE X AR 2 & E 2R TR
WEUE - SFERAEEE URRPEK
EHFE I R ERETE -

BHE-_Z—N\F+=-A=+—HI~EA"

ZARBAANEBERCERZRAEEBRAN
12,245,000 L R R EZGEEEFER
#1549,486,000/8 T

FEEERBRERERAGNNHEHS T
B ST R H B R B A2 FTGEM_E T (IR 1R
§%:08178) - Bz BRI BB AR A A £
TREBMIEFIHE RIBEEGRE RR
SEAK - R S IR T HE 18 AR TS LA e R AR 5
B EPREL -

HE—"T—N\F+-_A=+—HILEE"
ZABHBAEBLREEZEREEBERAY
75,531,000/ 70 MK BIZER G B EFEAL
446,479,000 TT
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36. INVESTMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continuea)

©)

Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited was incorporated in
the Bermuda and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 00371). Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited is
principally engaged in water treatment business, construction
and technical services for the water environmental renovation.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the audited consolidated
profit attributable to the owners of the company was
approximately HK$4,471,265,000 and its audited consolidated
net assets was approximately HK$37,812,137,000.

Frontier Services Group Limited was incorporated in Bermuda
and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
00500). Frontier Services Group Limited is principally engaged
in provision of aviation and logistics services and the provision of
online financial market information.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the audited
consolidated loss attributable to the owners of the company was
approximately HK$258,846,000 and its audited consolidated
net assets was approximately HK$1,191,521,000.

Huayi Tencent Entertainment Company Limited was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 00419). Huayi Tencent Entertainment
Company Limited is principally engaged in investment and
production of films and television series, provision of online health
management services for diabetic patients through its cloud
health management platform “Kangxun Xuetang”, provision of
offline healthcare and wellness services through the operation of a
healthcare and wellness center “Beijing Bayhood No.9 Club”.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the audited
consolidated profit attributable to the owners of the company
was approximately HK$73,737,000 and its audited consolidated
net assets was approximately HK$868,792,000.

36. RE& (&

MisE: (4)

@

ES

EFKBEERR A BRAFEEMA R
H A B 2 P £ v (B2 155 - 00871) -
EKBEBAER AR T ENEKEERR
% KRIDATE R 3E M AR5 -

HEZZ—N\E+_A=+—HILEE"
ZARBEBABEREZGA BN ALY
4,471,265,000/8 T RS EiZir A B EFER
#137,812,137,000/8 7T

Frontier Services Group Limited 4t & R # &
EERARRBEREEMA L RERD®
B 22 B £ (AR 19 X 5% - 00500) © Frontier
Services Group Limitedst 2 iR #$ =@ B R 2
B E BN E R MM YRR A KRR
FLermmSER-

HEZZ—N\E+_A=+—HILEE"
ZARBEBABEREZGRABEAN
258,846,000/ ;T M & B 6 B EFER
#91,191,521,000/8 7T

EHBMBREBERANRHASHE M
B ST R B R BEE 22 BT T (BR D AR5 -
00419)  EREFIREBRAAFENER
BERBEBYRERE SREBRERESE
mEae [RASE ABRREERER L
BREERYE SRCERRELEP L[
SHOSRIRZE T | R IR R TR R B E RS -

HEZZ—N\E+_A=+—HILEE"
ZARBEBABEREZGZE BN AL
78,737,000 7T R & B IZAR G AEFER/LN
868,792,000/ 7T ©

ERHES
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36. INVESTMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continuea)

(©)

Kingston Financial Group Limited was incorporated in Bermuda
and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
01031). Kingston Financial Group Limited is principally engaged
in provision of brokerage, underwriting and placements services
for dealings in securities on recognised stock exchanges,
provision of credits services in margin and initial public offering
financing, provision of corporate finance advisory services,
futures brokerage and asset management services, operation of
hotels and provision of hotel management services, operation of
restaurants in hotels, operation of casino in hotels and trading of
listed securities.

For the six months ended 30 September 2018, the unaudited
consolidated profit attributable to the owners of the company
was approximately HK$592,157,000 and its unaudited net
assets was approximately HK$20,915,889,000.

Kuang-chi Technologies Co. Ltd was incorporated in the China
and its shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 02625). Kuang-chi Technologies Co. Ltd is
principally engaged in development, production, sales and
maintenance of satellite communication equipment and high
technologies parts and products.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the unaudited
consolidated profit attributable to the owners of the
company was approximately RMB66,958,000 and its
unaudited consolidated net assets was approximately
RMB7,590,385,000.

Greenland Hong Kong Holding Limited (stock code: 00337)
issued a maximum principal amount of USD200,000,000 1.5
year 9.875% coupon interest bonds international bond on 18
December 2018 and listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
05485) with the coupon rate 9.875%, interest payable semi-
annually and matured on 16 June 2020.

Fund Series 3T SP operates by Click Ventures Segregated
Portfolio Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands.
Fund Series 3T SP is principally invested in start-ups at the seed
to series A stage in Hong Kong and internationally.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the unaudited
consolidated net assets attributable to holders was
approximately US$1,076,000.
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36. RE& (&

MisE: (4)

@)

EMNEEREBERAFARABREZM
ST Re E i OB AX P B (B RS
01031) -2 ML EMEFFR AR TENE
ARBAFFIHMEEEFRHLEL &
HREERS RERBEERERAFRHEE
EERERS RECEMBERRE #
BERLCRBETERY KEBERIREE
EERRE KEEENER EHEELE
BEREE LMES-

HE-_Z-N\FALAZ+BIEAMBA %
RAIBBEANEBHACEREE R AN
592,157,000/ 7T R RE B R EEFE ALY
20,915,889,000% T °

Fe R B A B IR 2 B 7 o B RE AT AR S e
HBROWRIESFZ S LT (RER:

02625) * KRB BR AR EEHEH
BHAE HERBEFERERBRSH
BT RESR -

HE-Z-N\F+-_A=+—HILFE Z
NEEE NEERBEREARNBOAR
#66,958,000T R ARG EZFEEEFER
#) AR ¥67,590,385,0007T °

i BEBZERAR AR (M RSE :00337)
RZZE—NE+-A+NBBTRALER
%200,000,000% 7T 21.56F B R Z@EF K A
9.875%.2 BB 15 % I pA Bt 22 Fi 7 (AR 19
5% £ 05485)  REFIE £9.875% & G4 F
S —XFE - RZEZEFA+TRAE
He

Fund Series 3T SPH Click Ventures
Segregated Portfolio Companyi& & - A 51 £
B SR SZ © Fund Series 3T SPEZ &
EFEYVEIARRNE S REBR TS ETAR
A& -

BE-_Z-—N\E+-_A=+—BILEE"
BEABEREEZREGEEFEARY
1,076,000 JT ©
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38.

39.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &= — & —

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The following table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, results in
particulars of excessive length.

37.

n 5 S R R Y

NE+ZA=+—BLFE

B I 1 B RF 1B

TRINTNEZARIBFERNEBREH
BEZARAMNBAR -BEFRR KH
B ARFEI L EEHREERTT
o

Proportion of
ownership interest and

Country/place voting power Principal
of incorporation Issued and fully paid held by the Com%any activities and
Name of subsidiary E oA T¥pe of Ieéal entity share capital NN place of operations
HELR LM %/itt%ﬁ ERERER BERTRARKRA %ﬁ&&&“i’éthﬁ] TEEBRBE R
Directg Indirectg
B G
Apex Cheer Investments Limited British Virgin Islands  Limited liability company USD1 100% - Investment holding in
Apex Cheer Investments Limited EEELES BREFAT i b’”‘?%&é? R
City King Investments Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HK$1 100% - Investment holding in
. \ e . Hong Kon
RHREARAT 5% EREEAT 8 REERARR
Full Long Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands  Limited liability company USD1 100% - Investment holding in
Hong Kon
ERRERERA A EBRAHE BEREMEDT 7 b’”‘?%&ﬁ? ZHR
Genius Hill Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HK$1 100% - Investment holding in
LEARAT 5% EREEAT 8 AEERRER
Mega Way International Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HK$10,000 100% - Investment holding in
Hong Kon
ERERARLT 5% EREEAT 1000087 REERARR
Sky Champion Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding in
Hong Kon
95ARLT 5% EREEAT 8 REERARR
White Venture Capital Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding in
BIaRARAT 5% EREEAT 8 AEERRER

None of the subsidiaries had debt securities outstanding
at the end of the reporting period or at any time during the
year.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 at
1 January 2018. Under the transition methods, comparative
information is not restated.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 March
2019.

38.

39.

PR E B RS F R R B R RE
BRI R AREEZEHES

LB F

AEBER-_ZE—NF—A—BEXER
EBMIERELERE1SE RN E BV KR
HAERIZEOHE - BIFBE )% LB KR
FEH -

HESRS P HHK

RAEMBHRREEFEN
—tAhH ?tt/&&%ﬁé?'ﬁé °

—NE=A
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBHRE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—Z—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

For the year ended 31 December
BET-A=t-BL%FE

M,

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
—T—ME —E-1F ZT-RE —E—+F —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET AL THET TR
Results S
Revenue W 1,759 8,980 5,557 3,409 3,461
(Loss}/profit before income tax ~ BxFTERLAT (518) /%7 (17,604) (64,053) (87,070) 26,468 (141,223)
Income tax expense FEHAZ = = = = =
(Loss)/profit. for the year F5 (BR) /5 (17,604) (64,053) (87,070) 26,468 (141,229)
At 31 December
R+=A=1+-H
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
—T-mE —T-h% ZT-R"E B o3 —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET FHET THET TR
Total assets BEE 254,653 593,211 548,659 545,474 419,730
Total liabilities Baz (98,482) (101,953) (57,455) (26,256) (31,405)
Net assets EEFE 156,171 491,258 491,204 519,218 388,325
Total equity e 156,171 491,258 491,204 519,218 388,325
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